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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Strategic Report
for the vear ended 31 December 2019

The directors present their Strategic Report on Virgin Media Finance PLC for the year ended 31 December 2019,

Far the purposes of this Strategic Report, Directors” Report and financial statements. the Virgin Media Finance
PLC group will be referred to as “the group™. Virgin Media Finance PLC the entity will be referred to as “the
company”. the group headed by Virgin Media Inc. will be referred to as “the Virgin Media group™, and the group
headed by Liberty Global ple will be referred to as “the Liberty Global group™

The company is a wholly-owned subsidiary undertaking of Virgin Media [ne. ("Virgin Media™y which is itselfa
wholly-owned subsidiary of Liberty Global ple (“Liberty Global™).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Virgin Media group operates under the Virgin Media brand in the United Kingdom (UK) and [reland.

The group provides broadband internet, fixed-line telephony, mobile and broadcasting services in the UK and
Ireland to both residential and business-to-business (B2B) customers. The group is one of the UK s and Ireland’s
largest providers of residential broadband internet. video and fixed-line telephony services in terms of the
number of customers. The group believes its advanced, deep-fibre cable access network enables it to offer faster
and higher quality broadband services than its digital subscriber line, or DSL. competitors. As a result, it
provides its customers with a leading. next-generation broadband service and one of the most advanced
interactive television services available in the UK and Irish markets.

T'he group provides mobile services to its customers using a third-party network through mobile virtual network
operators (MAYNO) arrangements.

In addition. through the Virgin Vedia Business brand. the group offers a broad portfolio of B2B voice. data.
internet, broadband and managed services sulutions to small businesses. medium and targe enterprises and public
sector organisations in the UK and Ireland.

At 31 December 2019, the group provided services to 6 million residential cable customers on its network. The
group provides mobile telephony services to 3 mitlion contract mobile customers and (1.3 mullion prepay mobide
customers over third party networks. At 31 December 2019, over 84%0 of residential customers on the group’s
cable network received multiple services and 622 were “triple-play™ customers, receiving broadband internet.
video and fixed-ling tefephony services trom the group.

Liberty Global is an international provider of broadband internet. video. fixed-line telephony and mobile
communications  services  to  residential  customers  and  businesses  in Europe. Liberty  Global's
operations  comprise businesses that provide residential and B2B communications services in (i) the
UK and lreland through Virgin Media, (i) Belgium through Telenet and (iii) Switzertand. Poland and Slovakia
through UPC Holding. In addition. Liberty Global owns a 50% non-controlling interest in the VodafoneZiggo
IV, which provides residential and B2B communications services in the Netherlands.

At 31 December 2019, Liberty Global’s operations owned and operated networks that passed 25.8
million homes and served 25.0 million revenue gencrating units, consisting of 9.3 million broadband
internet subscribers. 8.3 million video subscribers and 7.4 million fixed-line telephony subscribers. In
addition. Liberty Global also served 6.3 million mobile subscribers.

The principal activity of the company is to facilitate the group's financing structure by implementing the group's
capital management policies, making and facilitating external borrowings and holding investments in subsidiary
companies. The company 's investments include substantially alt of the Virgin Media group’s trading operating
companies.

The group’s reporting segments are based on its method of internal reporting to lLiberty Global and the
information used by its chief exccutive officer, who is the chief operating decision maker. or CODM. to evaluate
segment performance and make capital allocation decisions.

(L8]



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Strategic Report
for the vear ended 31 December 2019

REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

For the vear ended 31 December 2019. revenue increased by 0.3% to £3,168.1 millien from £5.130.3 million in
2018 primarily as result of an increase in residential cable revenue and B2B revenue. See further discussion of
revenue under Pertormance against Kev Performance Indicatars below.

Cost of sales increased by 5.3% to £1.708.0 million for the vear ended 3t December 2019. from £1.621.3 million
in 2018. Cost of sales increased during 2019. compared to 2018 mainly driven by an increase in programming
and copyright costs primarily due to higher costs for certain premium and'or basic content, an increase in
internet and access costs primarily due to an increase in interconnect and roaming costs offset by a decrease in
mobile handset and other device costs due to the effect of lower sales volumes and a lower average cost per
handset sold.

Gross profit decrzased by 1.9% to £3 460.1 million for the vear ended 31 December 2019, from £3,328.8 million
for the vear ended 31 December 2018 primarily due to the reasons detailed above. Gross margin has decreased
by 1.5% to 67.0% for the vear ended 3i December 2019 from 68.3% for yvear ended 31 December 2018,

Administrative expenses decreased by 14.9% to £2,381.3 million for the vear ended 31 December 2019, from
£2.800.2 miliion for the year ended 31 December 20t8. This was partly driven by the release of an impairment
on nerwork assets of £424.7m. partially offset by an increase in depreciation associated with property and
equipment additions related to the installation of customer premises equipment and the expansicn and upgrade of
our networks and other capital initatives. In addition. related-party fees and allocations. related 10 our estimated
share of the applicable costs incurred by Liberty Global's subsidiaries increased to £277.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019, from £1356.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2018. These charges generally
relate to management, finance. legal. technology and other corporate and administrative services provided to or
by our subsidiaries. [n addition there was a provisicn for litigation of £104.7 million related to a VAT matter in
the UK recognised during 2018.

Finance income decreased to £487.4 million for the vear ended 3| December 2019, from £753.7 million for the
vear ended 31 December 2018. The lower interest income arising due to lower average interest rates on related
party loan receivables from other Liberty Global group undertakings and the impact of the strengthening of
pound sterling against the US dollar in 2019 compared to a weakening in 20 (8. which resulted in lower foreign
exchange gains in 2019 than gains made on the fair value of the derivative financial instruments in 2018,

Finance costs decreased to £836.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 from £1.008.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2018. The decrease in costs was principally driven by the impact of the strengthening
of pound sterling against the L'S dollar in 2019 compared to a weakening in 2018. which resulted in lower losses
on the fair value cof derivative financiat instruments in 2019 than foreign exchange losses in 2018, In addition
there was an overall decrease in interest payable due to lower average outstanding third party debt and lower
weighted average interest rates.
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Strategic Report
for the year ended 31 December 2019

REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPNMENTS (continued)

Performance against Key Performance Indicators
Revenuy
Residential and B2B revenue includes both subscription and non-subscription revenue.

Cable subscription revenue includes amounts received from subscribers for ongoing services. Cable non-
subscription revenue includes, among other items, channel carriage fees. installation revenue. late fees and
revenue from the sale of equipment.

Residential mobile subscription revenue includes amounis received from subscribers for ongoing services.
Residential mobile non-subscription revenue inciudes, among other items, interconnect revenue and revenue
from sales of mobile handsets and other devices.

B2B subscription revenue represents revenue from services to certain smail or home office (SOHO) subscribers,
SOHO subscribers pay a premium price to receive expanded service levels along with broadband internet. video
and fixed-line telephony or mobile services that are the same or simifar to the mass marketed products offered to
residential subseribers. B2B non-subscription revenue includes revenue from business broadband intemnet, video,
fixed-line telepheny. mobile and data services offered to medium to large enterprises and on a wholesale basis.
to other operators.

Other revenue primarily includes broadeasting revenue.

Revenue by major category for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 was as follows:

2019 2018 Increase
Revenue: £ million £ milfion (decrease)
Residential revenue
Cable 3,665.7 3.638.4 0.8%
Mobile 655.9 6635 (1.1
Total residential revenue 4.321.6 4.301.9 0.5 %
B2B Revenue 775.3 778.0 (0.3
Other revenue 71.2 704 1.1%
5,168.1 35,1503 0.3 %

The increase in residential cable revenue is due to an increase in boih the average number of RGUs ' (Revenue
Crenerating Units™y and increased ARPU ' (~Average Revenue per Unit™):

e Total RGUs increased due to the net etfect of an increase in the average number of broadband
internet. and fixed-line telephony RGL s, oftset by a decrease in video RGUSs.

*  The increase in ARPU is primarily attributable to the net effect of higher ARPU from broadband
internet and video services. offset by lower ARPLUI trom fixed-line telephony services and an
adverse change in RGU mix.
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Strategic Report
for the year ended 31 December 2019

REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019. mobile revenue decreased to £633.9 million from £663.5 million in 2018.
The decrease in mobile revenue relates 1o a decrease in non-subscription revenue from mobile handset sales,
which tvpically generate relatively low margins. partially offset by £5.8 million of revenue recognised during
2019 in connection with the sale of rights to future commission payments on customer handset insurance
arrangements. This is partially offset by an increase in residential mobile subscription revenue primarily due to
an increase in the average number of mobile subscribers. partially offset by lower ARPL in the UK,

The decrease in B2B revenue is primarily due to lower revenue from data services. installation revenue. revenue
related 10 business network services and revenue from wholesale fixed-line telephony services. partially offset
by an increase in upfront revenue recognised in association with long-term leases of a portion of our network and
an increase in the average number of broadband internet SOHO RGU's in the UK.

The increase in other revenue is largely due to an increase in breadcasning revenue in [reland.

Summary residential cable statisticy

Selected statistics for the group’s residential cable customers are shown below:

2019 2018
Total cable customers 5,953,500 5.946.600
Cable products:
Broadband internet 5,649,200 5,600,300
Video 3,967,800 4,143,100
Fixed-line telephone +,940,600 4.923,500
Total cable products 14,557,600 14,666,900
Cable products per customer (i} 2.45x 247x
Triple play penetration 60.8% 63.0%
Cable ARPU (i) £51.34 £51.24

(i) Each telephone, television and broadband internet subscriber directly connected to the Virgin Media group’s
network counts as one product. Accordingly, a subscriber who receives both telephone and television services
counts as two products. Products may include subscribers receiving some services for free or at a reduced rate in
cennection with promotional offers.

(ii) Cable ARPU is calculated by dividing the average monthly subscription revenue (excluding interconnect
fees, channe! carriage fees and late fees) for the indicated period, by the average of the opening and closing
number of Customer Relationships for the period.

The total number of cable products fell to 14.557.600 at 31 December 2019 from 14.666.900 at 31 December
2018, representing a net decrease in products of 109,304,

Summuary mobile statistics

Selected statistics for the group’s mobile customers are shown below:

2019 2018
Postpaid mobile customers (i) 3,013,200 2,744,300
Prepaid mobile customers (i) 263900 376,700
Total mobile customers 3,277,100 3,121,000
Mobite ARPL (ii) £9.19 £9.61

(i) Our Mobile Subscriber count represents the number of active subscriber identification module (SIN) cards in
service rather than services provided. For example. if a Mobile Subscriber has both a data and voice plan on a
smartphone this would equate to one Mobile Subscriber. Alternatively. a subscriber who has a voice and data
plan for a mobile handset and a data plan for afaptop (via a dongle) would be counted as two \obile

5
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REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS (continued)

Subscribers. Custemers who do not pay @ recurring monthly fee are excluded from our Mobile Subscriber counts
after a 30 day period of inactivity.

(iiy Mobile monthly average revenue per user (“Maobile ARPU™) is calculated by dividing the average monthly
mobile subscription revenue (excluding sales and late fees) for the indicated period by the average of the
opening and closing balances of wtal mobile subscribers in service tor the peried.

The group added 268,900 postpaid subscribers in 2019. Growth in postpard subscriptions was offset by a lower
prepaid base, resulting in an overall increase in the group’s mobile base of 156,100 in 2019,

FINANCING

As of 31 December 2019, the group had £12.494.8 million of financial liabilities compared with £12.745.6
million as at 31 December 2018. The principal changes te financial liabilities during the year are discussed as
follows:

In May 2019, Virgin Media Secured Finance ple issued (i) $825.0 million (£622.0 million) principal amount of
2029 VM Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (i} £300.G miflion principal amount of 2029 VAL 5.25% Sterling
Senior Secured Notes. Each series of notes was issued at par and matures on May 13, 2029, The net proceeds
from the issuance of these notes were used to redeem in full (a2} £387.0 million outstanding principal amount
under the 2025 VAL 5.3% Sterling Senior Secured Notes. () $354.5 million (£267.3 million) outstanding
principal amount under the 20235 VA Dotlar Senior Secured Notes and (¢) £300.0 million outstanding principal
amount under the 2024 V\ 1 Sterling Senior Notes. In connection with these transactions, we recognised a loss on
debt moditication and extinguishment of £37.4 million.

In July 2019, Virgin Media Secured Finance ple issued an additional $600.0 million (£452.4 million) principal
amount of 2029 VAl Dollar Senior Secured Notes at 101.73%0 of par. The net proceeds trom the issuance of
these notes were used to redeem in full (1) $447.9 million (£337.7 million) cutstanding principal amount under
the 2021 VM Doilar Senior Secured Notes and (i) £107.1 million outstanding principal amount under the 2021
VAL Sterling Senior Secured Notes. In August 2019, we 1ssued an additional £40.0 million principal amount of
2029 VN 5.25% Sterling Senior Secured Notes at 103%0 of par. The net procecds from the issuance of these
notes were used to redeem an equal outstanding principal amount of 2029 VAL 6.25%, Sterling Senior Secured
Notes I connection with these transactions, we recognised a net loss on debt modification and extinguishment
of £23 .3 million.

In October 2019, Virgin Media SFA Finance Limited entered into VM Facility N. a $3.300.0 million (£2,488.1
million) term loan facility, and VA Facility O. a €750.0 million (£633.0 million) term loan facility. both issued
at 99.75% of par. and Virgin Media Secured Finance Lintited issued £400.0 million principal amount of 2030
VAl Sterling Senjor Secured Notes at par. The net proceeds from these transactions. together with certain other
funds. were used to (a) prepay in full the $3.400.0 million (£2.563.5 million) outstanding principal amount on
VI Facility K and tb) redeesn in fuli (1) $1.000.0 million (£754.0 million) outstanding principai amount of the
2026 VM 5.25% Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (2) £300.0 million outstanding principal amount of the 2023
VM 3.125% Sterling Senior Secured Notes. [n connection with these transactions, we recognised a net loss on
debt modification and extinguishment of £33.3 million.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

The group is exposed to volatility in its cash flows and earnings resulting from changes in interest rates and
toreign currency exchange rates. The group has entered into various derivative instruments with a number of
counterparties to manage this volatility of its cash flows and earnings.

The group has entered into cross-currency interest rate swaps 10 manage interest rate and foreign exchange rate
currency exposures resulting from the variable and fixed rates of interest paid on dollar denominated debt
obligations and movements in fair value on certain of its £1.S. dollar denominated debt. Additionally. the group
has entered into interest rate swaps to manayge interest rate exposures resuiting from the variable rates of interest
paid on sterling denominated debt obligations and movements in fair value on certain of its sterling denominated
debt. The group has alse entered into (U.S. dollar forward rate contracts to manage foreign exchange rate
currency exposures related to certain committed and forecasted purchases. See note 21 to the group tinancial
statements for further information on the group’s derivative instruments
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Financial risk management

Details of the financial risks and how they are managed are outlined in note 20 to the group financial stazements.
The principa! financial risks faced by the group are credit risk. interest rate risk. foreign exchange rate rish and
liquidity risk.

Principal non-financial risks

Virgin Media Finance PLC is a member of the Virgin Media group. which manages the principal non-financial
risks and uncertainties and is headed by Virgin Mledia Inc. These risks. ameng others. are discussed in more
detail in Virgin Media [nc.’s annual report. The principal non-financial risks include the following:

»  economic and business conditions and industry trends in the United Kingdom (UK} and Ireland:

«  the competitive environment in the cable television. broadband and telecommunications industries in the
UK and Ireland including competitor responses te our products and services:

+  fluctuations in currency exchange rates and interest rates;

- instability in global financial markets, including sovereign debt issues in the Ewropean Union (EL) and
related fiscal reforms;

- consumer disposable income and spending levels. including the availability and amount of individual
consumer debt;

«  changes in consumer television viewing and broadband internet usage preferences and habits:

+  consumer acceptance of our existing service ofterings. including our cable television. broadband internet.
fixed-line telephony and maobile and business service offerings, and of new technology. programming
alternatives and other products and services that we may offer in the future:

*  the group’s ability to manage rapid technological changes:

= the group’s ability to maintain or increase the number of subscriptions to our cable tefevision, broadband
internet. fixed-line telephony and mobile service offerings and our average revenue per household:

= the group’s ability to provide satisfactory customer service, including suppont for new and evolving
products and services;

»  the group’s ability to maintain or increase rates to our subscribers or 1 pass through increased costs to our
subscribers:

«  the impact of the group’s future financial performance. or market conditions generally. on the availability,
terms and deployment of capital:

+  changes in. or failure or inability to comply with. government regulations in the UK and freland and adverse
outcomes from regulatory proceedings:

»  government intervention that impairs the group’s competitive position, including any intervention that
would open the group’s broadband distribution networks to competitors and any adverse change in the
group’s accreditations or licenses:

+  the group's ability to obtain regulatory approval and satisfy other conditions necessary to close acquisitions
and dispositions. and the impact of conditions imposed by competition and other regulatory authorities in
cennection with acquisitions.

+  the group’s ability to successfully acquire new businesses and. if acquired. to integrate. realise anticipated
efficiencies from. and implement our business plan with respect to, the businesses we have acquired or that
we expect to acquire;

= changes in laws or treaties relating to taxation. or the interpretation thereof, in the Uk and Ireland:

7
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

= changes in laws and government regulations that may impact the availability and cost of capital and the
derivative instruments that hedge certain of the group’s financial risks:

+  our ability to navigate the potential impacts on our business of the LK’s departure from the EU:

= the ability of suppliers and vendors (including our third-party wireless network providers under the group’s
MVNO arrangements) to timely deliver quality products. equipment. sottware. services and access:

- the availability of attractive programming for our video services and the costs associated with such
programening;

«  uncertainties inherent in the development and integration of new business lines and business strategies:

= the group’s ability to adeguately forecast and plan future network requirements. including the costs and
benetits associated with the Network Extension;

= the availability of capital for the acquisition and'or development of telecommunications networks and
services:

+  problems the group may discover post-closing with the operations. including the internal vontrols and
financial reporting process. businesses we acquire:

= leakage of sensitive customer data:

+  the outcome of any pending or threatened litigation:

»  the Joss of key employees and the availability of qualified personnel:

»  changes in the nature of key strategic relationships with pariners and jeint venturers:

- adverse changes in public perception of the ~Virgin™ brand. which we and others license from Virgin
Enterprises Limited, and any resulting impacts on the goedwill of customers toward the group: and

«  events that are ourside of the group’s control, such as political unrest in international markets. terrorist
attacks, malicious human acts. naral disasters. pandemics or epidemics (such as the coronavirus (COVID-
19)) and other similar events.

Brexit

The UK's departure from the EU could have a material adverse effcct on our business. financial condition.
results of operations or fliguidity. On 23 June 201(6. the UK held a referendum in which voters approved. on an
advisory basis, an exit from the ELU. comimonly referred to as ~Brexit™,

The UK formally exited the EU on 31 January 2020. and has now entered into a transition period until 31
December 2020, during which the LK and the EU will negotiate to formalise the future UK-EU relationship with
respect to a number of matters. most notabiy. trade. Although the UK has ceased to be an EU member, during
the transition period their trading retationship will remain the same and the UK will continue to tollow the EL"s
rules, such as accepting rulings from the European Court of Justice. and the UK will continue to contribute to the
£L7s budget.

Unceriainty remains as to what specific terms of separation may be agreed during the transition period. [t is
possible that the UK will fail to agree to specific separation terms with the EU hy the end of the wansition
period. which. absent extension. may require the L K to feave the EU under a so-called ~hard Brexit” or “no-deal
Brexit” without specific agreements on trade. finance and other key elements.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

The foregoing has caused considerable uncertainty as to Brexit's impact on the free movement of goods,
services. people and capital between the UK and the EL. customer behaviour, economic conditions. interest
rates, currency exchange rates. and availability of capital. Examples of the potential impact Brexit could have on
Liberty Global group’s business. financial condition or results of operations include:

+ changes in foreign currency exchange rates and disruptions in the capital markets;
shortages of labour recessary to conduct our business, including our Network Extension in the UK
distuption to our UK supply chain and related increased cost of supplies:
a weakened LK economy resulting in decreased consumer demand for our products and services in the
UK;

® legal uncertainty and potertially divergent national laws and regulations as the UK determines which
EU laws and directives to replace or replicate, or where previously implemented by enactment of UK
laws or regulations, to retain. amend or repeal: and

s various geopolitical forces may impact the giobal economy and our business. including. for example.
other EU member states (in particular those member states where we have operations) proposing
referendums to, or electing to, exit the EL,

COvVID-19

In March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared the recent outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus
{COVID-19) to be a global pandemic. [n response to the COVID-19 pandemic. emergency measures have been
imposed by governments worldwide. including travel restrictions, restrictions on social activity and the
shutdown of non-essential businesses.

These measures have adversely impacted the global economy, disrupted global supply chains and created
significant volatility and disruption of financial markets, While it is not currently possible to estimate the
duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic or the adverse economic impact resulting from the
preventative measures taken to conmain or mitigate its outbreak. an extended period of global economic
disruption could have a material adverse impact on our business. financial condition and results of operations in
future periods.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
Pending joint venture transaction

On 7 May 2020, Liberty Global entered into a Contribution Agreement with, among others. Telefonica. SA
(Telefonica). Pursuant to this agreement, Liberty Global and Telefonica agreed to form a 50:30 joint venture,
which will combine Virgin Media's operations in the UK with Telefonica’s mobile business in the UK to create
a nattonwide integrated communications provider.

The completion of this transaction s subject to certain conditions. including competition clearance by the
applicable regulatery authorities. It is anticipated that the transaction will close around the middle of 2021. The
Contribution Agreement alse includes customary termination rights, including a right of the parties to terminate
the agreement if the transaction has not closed within twenty-four months following the date of the agreement.
which may be extended by six months under certain circumstances.

Financing transactions

In May 2020, Virgin Media Trade Receivables Financing ple, a third-party special purpose financing entity, was
created for the purpose of facilitating the offering of certain notes. These notes are collateralised by certain trade
receivables of Virgin Media. creating a variable interest in which Virgin Media is the primary beneficiary and,
accordingly, Virgin Media, and ultimately Liberty Global. are required to conselidate Virgin Media Trade
Receivables Financing plc. The offering of these notes resulted in net proceeds of £214.4 million.
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POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS (continued)
In June 2020. Virgin Media completed various financing transactions. as further described below.
Senior notes (runsactions

The group issued 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $675 million. he net proceeds. together with the
Nay 2020 proceeds were used to redeem in full €460 million and $388.7 millicn outstanding principal amount of
2023 senior notes.

The group issued an additional 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $230 million €500 million. The net
proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used (1) to redeem in full $497 million cutstanding principal
amoeunts of existing 2024 senior notes and $123.1 million and £44.1 million outstanding principal amounts of
existing 2022 senior notes and (2) for general corporate purposes.

The new secured notes rank pari-passu with the group’s existing secured notes and subject (o certain exceptions,
share in the same guarantees and security granted in favour of its existing secured notes.

Senior secured notes transactions

I'he group issued 2030 senior secured notes with principal amounts of $630 million and £450 million. The net
proceeds trom the issuance of these notes were used (1) to redeem in full £523 million outstanding principal
amounts of existing 2027 sentor secured notes. (2) to redeem in full £360 million cutstanding principal amounts
of existing 2029 senior secured notes. (31 £80.0 million of the £321.3 million outstanding principal amount of
existing 2023 senior s¢eured notes.

The new senior secured notes rank pari-passu with the group's existing senior secured notes and seaior secured
credit tacility, and subject to certain exceptions, share in the same guarantees and security granted in favour of
its exisling senior secured notes.

Vendor financing notes transactions

Virgin Media Vendor Financing NMotes 1 Desionared Activity Company (Virein MVedia Financing [H Company )
and Virgin Media Vendor Financing Notes 1V Designated Activity Company {Virgin Media Financing IV
Company. and together with Virgin Media Financing 1l Company. the 2020 VM Financing Companies} were
created for the purposc of issuing certain vendor financing notes. The 2020 VM Financing Companies are third-
party special purpose financing entities that are not consolidated by Virgin Media or Liberty Global.

Virgin Media Financing 11 Company issucd vendor financing notes with principal amounts of £300 million and
£400 million. Virgin Media Financing IV Company issued vendor financing notes with principal amounts of
$300 million. The net proceeds from the June 2020 Vendor Financing Notes were used by the 2020 Vi
Financing Companies to purchase certain vendor-financed receivables ot Virgin Media and its subsidiaries from
previously-existing third-party special purpose financing entities (the original VAl Financing Companies) and
vartous other third parties.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

The directors will continue to review management policies in light of changing trading and market conditions.
Further detail of the future outlook of the group. is provided in Virgin Nedia inc.”s financial statements and
annual report for 2019, which are available from the company secretary at Virgin Media. 300 Brook Drive,
Reading, United Kingdom, RG2 6L and on Liberty Global's website at www.liberty global.com.

SECTION 172 STATEMENT

This statement is intended to disclose how our directors have approached and met their responsibilities under
5172 Companies Act 2006.

In line with Liberty Global's goal of enhancing the long-term value for the benefit of iis sharcholders. the

directors of the Virgin NMedia oversee the management of the group, to help assure that the interests of cur
shareholders are served.
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SECTION [72 STATEMENT (continued)

The directors of the group, apply the Corporate Governance Guidelines (page [5). essential to our business
integrity and performance. Therefore. as part of group operations as a whole consider:

¢ long-term consequences of decisions:

e employees’ interests:

*  business relationships with suppliers and customers:

e the impact of our operations on the environment and communities in which we operate: and

¢ the need to act fairly between shareholders.

The level of engagement of the directors is critical in the group’s successful investment in the infrastructure and
platforms that empower our customers to make the most of the digital revolution and cornect to the
entertainment, experiences and people they love. We believe that our scale and svnergies with our partners help
bring the best connectivity and entertainment to our customers and, during 2019. the directors provided
thoughtful guidance to ensure that we enhanced and expanded our networks wisely. investing with purpose in
the technology. talent and territories with the most potential.

Customers/Partnerships — Virgin Media provides its customers with a leading. next-generation breadband
service. one of the most advanced interactive television services available in the UK and Irish markets and
mobile services. We believe our relationships with our partners help us deliver unique products and services to
our customers. The continued strategic involvement by the directors in these decisions to help foster these
refationships is critical to the group’s long term success.

Responsibility — Community & Environment - As part of Virgin Media's strategy. we are committed o
growing a responsible and sustainable business. Qur vision of using digital to make good things happen focuses
on two pillars; growing responsibly and sustainably and doing more good with digital. As outlined in the
Directors’ Report, we have cutlined five sustainability goals to ensure that our growth and contribution to the
UK is delivered in a way that’s good for people and the environment.

People - At Virgin Media. we know building an inclusive environment is essential to our growth. We're working
on butlding a fully inclusive culture, celebrating everybody’s individuality and differences. We want to empower
our people, so they feel valued, limitless and inspired to help build meaningful connections. The Directors’
Report provides further information on Virgin Media’s policy on employment and disabled employees.
Consideration of these factors and other relevant matters is embedded into all Virgin Media group decision-
making. strategy development and risk assessment throughout the year. Further information is available on our

website: https:/www virginmedia.com/corporate/sustainability .

On behalf of the board

RRAN

R G McNeil
Director

28 September 2020



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Directors’ Report
for the year ended 31 December 2019

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the group and company for the year
ended 31 December 2019,

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The group made a profit for the year. after tax. of £5377.1 million (2018: £384.6 million). The directors have not
recommended the payrnent of a dividend (2018 £nil).

DIRECTORS AND THEIR INTERESTS

The directors who served during the year and thereafter were as follows:

W T Castell (appointed 9 September 2019, resigned 9 March 2020)

R D Dunn (resigned 9 September 2019)

M T Fries

M O Hitzi

R G MeNeil (appointed 9 March 2020)

T tvlockridge {resigned (1 June 20(9)

A C MVurray (appointed 18 July 2019, resigned 5 August 2019}

S-P Pascu {appeinted 3 March 2020)

C B E Withers (appointed 23 April 2020)

e directors of the company have been indemnified against liability in respect of proceedings brought by third
parties. subject to the conditions set out in the Companies Act 2006. Such qualifying third party indemnity

provision is in force for directors serving during the financial vear and as at the date ot approving the Directors'
Report.

EMPLOYMENT POLICIES AND DISABLED EMPLOYEES

The giuup reinains cowmualied o the continuing introduction and practice of progressive employment palicies
which reflect changing business. social and employee needs.

The group aims 10 ensure that everyone connected to it is treated fairly and equally. whether they are a current or
former member of staff. job applicant, customer or supplier.

Nobody should be discriminated against. either directly or indirectly, on the grounds of gender. gender
reassignment, marital status, pregnancy, race. ethnic origin, colour, nationality. national origin, disability. sexual
orientation, religion or beliel, age, political affiliation or trade union membership. The policy applies to anyone
who works for. who has worked for or who applies to work for Virgin Media or its partners. That means
permanent, temporary, casual or part-time staff. anyone on a fixed-term contract, agency staff and consultants
working with the group. ex-employees and people applyving for jobs. This applies to all aspects of employment.
including recruitment and training.

The group gives full consideration to applications from employecs with disabilities where they can adequately
fulfit the requirements of the job. Depending on their skills and abilities. employees with a disability have the
same opportunities for promotion, career development and training as other employees. Where existing
employees become disabled. it is the group’s policy 1o provide continuing employment wherever practicable in
the same or an alternative position and to provide appropriate training to achieve this aim.

In line with Liberty Global's *Code of Business Conduct’, the group’s employees and directors are expected to
display responsible and ethical behaviour. to follow consistently both the meaning and intent of' this Code and to
act with integrity in all of the group’s business dealings. Managers and supervisors are expected to take such
acrion as is necessary and appropriate to ensure that the group’s business processes and practices are in full
compliance with the Code.



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Directors’ Report
for the year ended 31 December 2019

EMPLOYMENT POLICIES AND DISABLED EMPLOYEES (continued)

Employee Involvement

The Virgin Media group is dedicated to increasing the practical involvement of individuals in the running of its
business. [t seeks to achieve this as follows:

all employees are encouraged to understand the aims of the Virgin Media group and of their own
business area and to contribute to improving business performance through their knowledge.
experience, ideas and suggestions. This requires strong communication to ensure that employees are
briefed as widely as possible about activities and developments across Virgin Vedia. The online news
channel. open forums. newsletters and team meetings play important roles in this. as do the
development of people management skills and the ongoing conversations about performance and
development which underpin mid-year and year-end reviews:

the Virgin Media group ensures that all ecmployees are invoived and consulted through “Voice™ which
operates at a national, divisional and local level. [t enables employvees and employers to have an open
and transparent relationship with a flow of information. [t is focused around sharing information,
involving employees in decision making, gaining access to knowledge and experience or resolving
differences of opinion. Involving cmployees in decision making enhances confidence and job
satisfaction, creates a sense of belonging and empowerment, reduces stress and impacts positively on
wellbeing.

The Virgin Media group fosters a team spirit among employees and their greater involvement by offering
participation in bonus or local variable reward schemes and team development opportunities. Virgin Media also
operates various recoghition schemes which are designed to reward employees for behaviours which are
consistent with the Virgin Media values and has a volunteering scheme which allows employees to take a day
each vear to volunteer with a charity or organisation of their choice. The group remains committed to the
centinuing introduction and practice of progressive employment policies which reftect changing business. social
and emplovee needs.



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Directors’ Report
for the year ended 31 December 2019

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SUSTAINABILITY POLICIES

Virgin Media is committed to growing a responsible and sustainable business. This means ensuring that our
growth and contribution to the UK is delivered in a way that’s good for people and the environment.

In 2013, we set five sustainability goals to:
e  (reate oppertunities for 100,000 small businesses to grow in the UK’s economy through digital:
* Improve the sustainability performance of every new product:
«  Grow our business without increasing our carbon footprint:
¢ Nurture an engaged work force which represents the diversity of our customers and communities; and

+  Support one million disabled people with the skills and confidence to get into and stay in work by the
end of 2020.

The tirst tour goals torrm part of our °3 in 37 sustainability goals and our overall "Digital tor Good™ strategy -
which concluded in 20 19. The last goal. to support a million disabled people. will run until the end of 2020.

Each goal is owned by a member of the Virgin Media Executive Committee and we have a dedicated
Sustainability team which facilitates and communicates our progress to becoming a more sustainable business.

We're pleased to say that we made positive progress against all our five goals last year.

While growing our business. we continued to cut our operational carbon footprint {Scope 1 and 2) with a
reduction of 43% since 2014 across UK and Treland. For the first time we sourced 100% of our contracted
electricity from renewable sources. We also made significant strides towards our zero office waste to landfill
target. with only 36 going to landfill compared to 10°6 in 2018.

Scope’s Support to Work employment programme. funded by Virgin Media. helped thousands of disabled
jobseckers last year. Mlore than 340,000 disabled people were provided with advice, skills and confidence to
find the right job for them via the scheme’s self-service and tailored programmes.

We're now in the process of developing a new strategy and a set of long term sustainability targets which align
to the hey material issues as identified by our people. customers and the communities we serve. This will be
published later in 2020,

virgin Media communicates updates on performance and key highlights through its dedicated sustainability
website: www, virginmedia.com/sustainability.

GOING CONCERN

As Virgin Media Finance PLC is either a direct or indirect parent of all of the trading companies in the Virgin
Nedia group, these consolidated financial statements include substantially all of the trade and assets of the
overall Virgin Media group. Whilst forecasts and projections, which take account of reasonably possible changes
in trading performance, have not been prepared at a Virgin Media Finance PLC group level, they have been
prepared for the Virgin Media group as a whole. These forecasts and projections showed that cash on hand.
together with cash from operations and the undrawn revolving credit facility. are expected to be sutficient for the
Virgin NMedia group's and henee the group’s cash requirements through to at least 12 months from the date of
this report.

Taking into account these forecasts and projections and after making enquiries. the directors have a reasonable
expectation the group has adequate support and resources Lo continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future.

For these reasons the directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these financial statements.
Consideration of the potential impact of COVID- 19 has not altered this conclusion.

P4



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Directors’ Report
for the year ended 31 December 2019

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The group is committed to conducting business with honesty. integrity and respect. Corporate governance affects
the way the group directs its relationship with its stakeholders. The group believes that the highest standards of
corporate governance are essential to the group’s business integrity and performance. The group has adopted a
number of policies and procedures to support solid corporate governance in every area of the group’s operatiens.

Corporate Governance Guidelines adopted by the Liberty Giobal Board of Directors serve as a framework for
Board governance over the affairs of the group for the benefit of its shareholders. These include Code of
Business Conduct, Code of Ethics. Audit Committee Charter. Compensation Committee Charter, Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee Charter and Succession Planning Committee Charter.

Further informaticn on Corporate Governance is available to the public on Liberty Global's website at
www _libertyglobal.com/or under the heading ~Corporate Responsibility”. The information on the website is not
part of this repart.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO THE AUDITOR

So far as each person who wag a director at the date of approving this report is aware, there is no relevant audit
information, being information required by the auditor in connection with preparing its report. of which the
auditor is unaware. Having made enquiries of fellow directors and the group's auditor. each director has taken

all the steps that he/she is obliged to take as a director in order to make himsetf herself aware of any relevant
audit informaticn and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information.

AUDITOR

KPNMG LLP will be re-appointed under section 487(2} of the Companies Act 2006.

Signed on behalf of the board of directors

/

C B E Withers

Director

Approved by the directors on 28 September 2020



Virgin Media Finance PLC

Statement of Dircctors’ Responsibilities in respect of the Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report
and Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December 2019

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Repart. the Directors™ Report and the group and parent
company financial statements in accordance with applicable [aw and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare group and parent company financiai statements for each financial
vear. Under that law they have elected to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with [ntemational
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union ({FRSs as adopted by the EL and applicable
law and have clected to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with UK accounting
standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). including FRS 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
¢ive atrue and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and parent company and of their profit or loss for that
period. [n preparing ¢ach of the group and parent company financial statements. the directors are required to:

*  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
s make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant, reliable and prudent:

e for the group financial statements. state whether they have been prepared in accordance with [FRSs as
adopted by the EL;

«  for the parent company financial statements. state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been
followed, subject to any matertal departures disciosed and explained in the financial statements:

e assess the group and parent company’s ability to continue as a going concemn. disclosing. as applicable.
matters related to going concern: and

s use the woing concen basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the group or the parent
company Of to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
parent company s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
parent company and enable them to cnsure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006,
They are respensible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial staterments that are free from material misstaternent, whether due to fraud or error, and have general
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the group and 1o
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.



Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Virgin Media Finance PLC

1 Our opinion is unmodified

We have audited the financial statements of Virgin Media Finance PLC (“the Company™) for the year ended 31
December 2019 which comprise the group income statement and statement of comprehensive income. group
balance sheet. group statement of changes in equity. group cash flow statement. company balance sheet,
company statement of changes in equity and the related notes, including the accounting policies in note 2 of the
group financial statements and note | of the company financial statements.

In our opinion:

+ the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent Company’s
affairs as at 31 December 2019 and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended:

+ the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union;

* the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting
standards. including FRS 10t Reduced Disclosure Framework, and

+ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK} ("ISAs (UK)”) and
applicable law. Qur responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibtlities under,
and are independent of the Group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical
Standard as applied to listed entities. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained s a sufficient and
appropriate basis for our opinion.

2 Key audit matters: our assessment of risks of material misstatement

Key audit matters are those matters that. in our professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of
the financial statements and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not
due to fraud) identified by us. including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the
allocation of resources in the audit: and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinjon on these matters. [n arriving at our audit opinion above, the key audit
matters. in decreasing order of audit signiticance, were as follows:

Group: Capitalisation of costs associated with construction and installation activities

The Risk  (Overstatemeni of Profits

Capitalisation of both internal and external costs incurred ¢ part of which is included in the net book value of
plant, property and equipment of £6,099.9 m (2018: £5.423.0 m)) associated with the capital projects undertaken
by the group involve estimation of the amount of time and costs that should be capitalised. The most significant
risk is that the group may inappropriately capitalise construction and instaltation costs. The key risks in
determining if construction and installation costs qualify for recognition as an asset, include whether the costs
are directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by the group; it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the group. and if the cost can be measured reliably

The effect of these matters is that. as part of our risk assessment. we determined that carrving amount of
Network assets of £5.504.1m has a high degree of estimation uncertainty ., with a potential range of reasonable
outcomes greater than our materiality for the financial statements as a whole, and possibly many times that
amount.



Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Virgin Mediz Finance PLC

Qur Besponse
Our procedures included:

Control operations - We evaluated the design. implementation and tested operating effectiveness of key internal
contreds in place used for identifying which construction and installation costs should be capitalised.

Pervonnel interviews - We challenged the amount of imternal costs capitalised during the year by comparing 1o
budgets. interviewing department heads to determine the level oftime individuals have spent on capital items.
and analysed the changes 10 significant estimates utilised by the group to determine the amount of internal costs
to be capitalised (if any), and other changes in the business with a potential impact on cost capitalisation during
the year.

Testy of details ~ For both internal and external costs capitalised we selected a sample of plant. property and
equipment additions on costs caplitalised and assessed the nature of the costs thereby assessing the
appropriateness of the group’s cost capitalisation conclusions.

Parent Company: Recoverability of the Company’s investments in subsidiaries

the risk low risk high value

The carrying amount of the Company s investments in subsidiaries of ££.699.4 m (2018: £4.699 4 m} represents
69.6% of the company's total assets. The recoverability is not at a high risk of significant misstatement or
subject to significant judgement. However. due to their materiality in the context ot the financial statements. this
is considered to be the area that had the greatest etffect on our overall audit of the parent company.

Our response
Qur procedures included:

Testy of detail” We compared the carrying amount of material investments with the relevant subsidiaries” balance
sheet to identity whether their net assets. being an approximation of their minimumn recoverable amount. were in
excess of their carrying amount and assessing whether those subsidiaries have histerically been profit-making,.

ssessing subsidiary auedits: We assessed the work performed by the subsidiary audit teams of those subsidiaries
where audits are pertormed and considering the results of that work on those subsidiaries™ profits and net assets.

3 Our application of materiality and an overview of the scope of cur andit

Materiality for the group financial statements as a whole was setat £51.6m (2018: £51m), determined with
reference to a benchmark of revenue of £5.168m, of which it represents 1.0%0 (201 8: [%).

Materiality for the parent Company financial statements as a whole was set at £51,000.000 (2018: £40.000,000).
determined with reference to a benchmark of Company total assets. of which it represents (.8%6 (2018: 0.7%).

We agreed to report to management any corrected or uncorrected identified misstatements exceeding
£2.500,000. in addition to other identified misstatements that warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

The group’s reporting components comprise the UK and Ireland. we subjected the UK component to a full scope
audit for group purposcs and the [rish component to specified risk-focused audit procedures. The latter was not
individually financially significant enough 1o require a full scope audir for group purposes. but did present
specific individual risks that needed to be addressed.

4 We have nothing to report on going concern'

The Dircctors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to
liquidate the Company or the Group or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the Company’s
and the Group’s financial position means that this Js realistic. They have also concluded thar there are no
material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over their ability to continue as a going concern for
at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements (“the going concern period™).




Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Virgin Media Finance PLC

Our responsibility is to conclude con the appropriateness of the Directors™ conclusions and. had there been a
material uncertainty related to going concem. to make reference to that in this audit report. However. as we
cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that are
inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made. the absence of reference to a
material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the group or the company will continue in
operation.

In our evaluation of the Directars’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the Group's and Company’s
business model, including the impact of Brexit. and analysed how those risks might affect the Group’s and
Company s financial resources or ability to continue operations aver the going concern period. We evaluated
those risks and concluded that they were not significant enough to require us to perform additional audit
procedures.

Based on this work. we are required to report to vou if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis
of accounting is inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over
the use of that basis for a period of at least a vear from the date of approval of the financial statements.

We have nothing to report in these respects, and we did not identify going concern as a key audit maiter.
5 We have nothing to report on the other information in the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report together with the financial
statements. Qur opinion or the financial statements does not cover the other information and. accordingly. we
do not express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated below. any form of assurance conclusion thercon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and. in doing so. consider whether, based on our financial
statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial
statcments or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work we have not identified material misstatements in
the other information:

Strategic report and directors’ report

Bascd solely on cur work on the other information:

« we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors” report;

¢ in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the financial
statemnents; and

* inour opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

6 We have nothing to report on the other matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

» adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company. or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us: or

e the parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns: or

s certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made: or

e we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.
7 Respective responsibilities

Directors responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 16. the directors are respensible for: the preparation of
the financial statements including being satisfied that they give a true and fair view: such internal controf as they
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement.
whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group and parent Company s ability to continue as a going concern.
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent Company or to ceasg operations. or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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Auditor's responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Hnancial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement. whether due to fraud or error, and o issue our opinion in an auditor's report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with [SAs (UK) will always detect a2 material misstatement when it exists. Nlisstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material it. individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller  description  of  our  responsibilities s provided on the FRC's  website at
www . fre.org.uk auditorsresponsibilities.

8 The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our respousibilities

This report is made solely to the Company s members. as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company’s members. as a body. for our audit work. for this report. or for the opinions we have formed.

Kigestross

Katharine L' Estrange {Seaior Statutery Aaditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statatory Auditor
Chariered Accountants
1 Sovereign Square
Sovereign Street
Leeds
LS14DA
13 September 2020



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Group Income Statement and Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the vear ended 31 December 2019

Revenue
Cost ot sales
Gross profit

Administrative expenses
Group operating profit

Finance income
Finance costs
Net finance costs

Profit before tax
Tax expense

Profit for the year

Other Comprehensive Income

Items that wiil not be reclassified to profit or foss

Actuarial (losses) ¢ gains on defined benefit pension plans

Tax on defined benefit pension plans

Items that will or may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
[mpact of mavements in cash flow hedges

Exchange differences on the retranslation of foreign operations

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to equity

holders

Totat comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

The notes on pages 23 1 75 form part of the financial statements.

All results relate to contiruing operations.

Notes

2019 2018

£ million £ million
5.168.1 5,150.3
(1,708.0y (L621.3)
34601 35288
(2.381.3) (2.800.2)
1.078.8 728.6
4874 7537
{886.1) {1,008.9)
{398.7) (255.2)
680.1 1734
{103.01 {88.8})
377.1 3846
(7.2) 8.5

1.0 (h4)

(6.2) 7.1

5.4 5.7

18.2 6.4
236 121
5945 403.8
573.8 396.0
18. 7.8
594.5 403.8




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Group Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2019

Non-current assets

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment
Financial assets

Trade and other receivables
Deferred tax assets

Defined benefit pension plan assct

Current assets

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables
[nventories

Cash and short tenm deposits

Total assets

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Financial Liabilities
Provisions

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Financial liabilities

Provisions

Defined benefit pension plan liability

Total liabilities
Net assets

Capital and reserves

FEquity share capital

Share premium account

Other capital reserves

Unrealised gains and losses

Foreign currency transtation reserve

Retained earnings

Virgin Media Finance PLC group shareholders’ equity
Non-controtling inierests

Total equity

The notes on pages 25 to 73 form part of the financial statements.,

Notes

LN

16
17
19

16
17
19

.‘_,7

i

224

24
24
24
24

31 December

31 December

2019 2018
£ million £ million
2443 25612
6,098.0 54231
54229 35879
363 37.4
1.344.2 1.643.3
86.4 89.7
15,6321 13,3446
§2.5 143.1
630.9 628.5
346 60.7
RRR 16.2
821.9 §48.5
16,4340 16,1931
(1.391.9) (1.663.0)
(2.031.3) (20130
(3.6) (5.5
(3.626.8) [3.681.6)
126.8) (36.8)
104635 (10.732.5)
(1249 {123.9)
(7.9; {7.8)
{(10.623.1) (10.901.0)
(142499 (14,582.6)
22040 1.610.5
0.1 2.1
6239 6239
{20036 12.099.1)
10.7 3.3
293 1.1
3.572.8 3.027.0
21452 1.570.3
58.9 402
IEEN 16103

These financial statements were approved by the directors on 28 September 2020 and are signed on their behalf

by:
R G MecNeil
Director

Company Registration Number: 03061787

R
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Group Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Operating activities
Profit for the year

tdjustments to reconcile profis for the vear aitributable to equity
holders of the parent o net cash inflow from operating aciivities
Depreciation
Amortisation of intangible assets
Impairment of network asscts
Net finance costs
Share-based payments
Income taxes
Gains on disposal of praperty, plant and equipment
Unrealised losses/{gains) on derivative instruments
Non-cash foreign exchange movements
Decrease in trade and other receivables
Decrease/{ increase) in inventories
(Decreasel/increase in prepayments and other assets
Decrease in trade and other payables
Increase in accruals, deferred income and other current liabitities
Increase/(decrease) in deferred income and other [ong term [iabi(ities
Decrease in provisions
Net cash inflow provided by continuing operating activities

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Loans (toYrepayment from parent and group undertakings
Proceeds on sale of property. plant and equipment
Acquisition net of cash acquired

Change in restricted cash

Interest received

Net cash outflow from investing activities

Financing activities

Interest paid

Settlement of cross currency interest rate swaps
New borrowings, net of financing fees
Repayment of borrowings

Capital lease payments

Net cash outflow from financing activities

Citect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at | January
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

The notes on pages 25 to 75 form part of the hinancial statements.
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the vear ended 31 December 2019

Authorisation of financial statements and statement of compliance with IFRS

The consotidated financial statements of Virgin Media Finance PLC for the vear ended 31 December 2019 were
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 September 2020 and the Group Balance Sheet was signed
on the board’s behatf by R G McNeil. Virgin Media Finance PLC is a public limited company incorporated and
domiciled in the UK. The company’s shares are not publicly traded although the Senicr Notes issued by the
company are registered on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted by the group are set out below and have all been applied consistently
throughout the current year and the preceding year except as discussed below.

Basis of preparation

Notwithstanding net current liabilities of £2.804.9 million and net habtlities £2.608.3 million as at 31 December
2019 for the Group and Company respectively and a profit for the Group for the yvear of £577.1 million, the
financial statements have been approved on the assumption that the group remains a going concern. The
following paragraphs summarise the basis on which the directors have reached their conclusion.

[t is Virgin Media's practice for operational and financial management to be undertaken at a group level rather
than for individual entities that are wholly owned by the group. Treasury operations and cash management for
all of Liberty Global's wholly owned subsidiaries are managed on a Liberty Global group basts. As part of
normal business practice. regular cash flow forecasts for both short and long term commitments are undertaken
at group level.

As Virgin Media Finance PLC is either a direct or indirect parent of substantially all of the trading companies in
the Virgin Media group. these consolidated financial statements include substantially all of the trade and assets
of the overall Virgin Media group. Whilst forecasts and projections, which take account of reasonably possible
changes in trading performance, have not been prepared at a Virgin Medta Finance PLC group level. they have
been prepared for the Virgin Media group as a2 whole. These indicate that cash on hand, together with cash from
operations, repayment of amounts due to Virgin Media from the Liberty Global group and undrawn revolving
credit facilities. are expected to be sufficient for the Group’s cash requirements through to at least 12 months
from the approval of these financial statements.

Whilst the detailed cash fiow forecasts are prepared at the group level. the directors have also assessed the
position of the company. Notwithstanding net liabttitics of £2.608.3 million as at 31 December 2019. this
assessment indicates that, taking account of reasonably possible downsides, the company will have sufficient
resources, through funding from fellow subsidiary companies to meet its liabilities as they fall due for that
period.

As with any company placing reliance on other group entities for financial support. the directors acknowledge
that there can be no certainty that this support will continue although, at the dawe of approval of these financial
statements, they have no reason to believe that it will not do so. Consequently. the directors are confident that
the Company will have sufficient funds to continue to meet its liabilities as they fall due for at least [2 months
from the date of approvat of the financial statements and have prepared the financial staterments on a going
concern basis. Consideration of the potential impact of COVID-19 has not altered this concluston.,

Variable interest entities

On 30 November 2018, in connection with certain Liberty Global group reorganisations, the group completed
the transfer of Liberty Property Holdco | Limited and Liberty Property Holdco Il Limited from the group to
Liberty Property Holdco [T Limited. another subsidiary of Liberty Global group outside of Virgin Media group.
Liberty Property Holdco [ Limited. [.iberty Property Holdco I Limited and Liberty Property Holdco [H are
collectively referred to as “the Liberty Property Companies.” The assets held by the Liberty Property
Companies are used by the group creating a variable interest in the Liberty Property Companies for which the
group is the primary beneficiary and. accordingly, the group is required to consolidate the Liberty Property
Companies.

]
L



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2

Accounting policies (continued})

New stunduards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the group
The following standards and interpretations have been issued with an effective date for accounting periods
beginning after the date of these financial statements:

In January 2016, [FRS 16, Leases (IFRS 16), was issued which results in lessees rccognising right-of-use
{ROU} assets and lease liabilities on the statement of financial position with additional disciosures about leasing
arrangements. IFRS 16 also eliminates the classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases by
a lessge. The main impacts ot the adoption of this standard are (i) the recognition of ROU and lease liabilities in
our consolidated statement of financial position for leases previously accounted for as operating leases and (ii)
the replacement of operating lease expense with a depreciation charge for ROU assets and interest expense for
lease labilities.

This change results in a front-loaded total lease expense versus the previous straight-line operating lease
expense.

The group adopted [FRS 16 on January 1. 2019 by using the modified retrospective approach. The group
applied the following practical expedients and options:

+ In transition. the group did not reassess which existing contracts are or contain leases. In additien. we
did not use hindsight during transition:

e The group did not apply the practical expedient that permits a lessee to account fur lease and non-lease
components in a contract as a single lease component and. accordingly. the group will continue to
account for these components separately:

o The group did not recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities tor leases with terms of 12 months
or less: and

+  The group applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reascnably similar charactenstics.

L.pon adoption of [FRS 16, on January |. 2019 the group recorded ROLI assets of £201 mitlion and lease
liabilities of £204 millien. There was no impact to the group’s retained earnings. The adoption of IFRS 16 did
not have a significant impact on the consolidated statements of profit or loss or cash flows.

£000
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at
31 December 2018 167,878
Driscounted using the incremental borrowing rate at | January 2019 138,100
Add: finance fease liabilitics recognised as at 31 December 2018 66,049
{Less): short-term leases not recognised as a liability (17
l.ease liability recognised as at | January 2019 204,132



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2

Accounting policies (continued)

Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported for assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date and the amounts reported for revenues
and expenses during the year. The nature of estimation means that actual outcomes could differ from those

estimates.

The most significant judgments and estimations used by management in the process of applying the group's
accounting policies are discussed below:

Impairment of intungible assets
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are assessed for impairment annually and when such

indicators exist.

When value in use calculations are undertaken. management must estimate the expected future cash flows from
the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
these cash flows. Where fair value less cost to sell is used. the valuation must represent the fair value of the
cash-generating unit in an orderly transaction between market participants under current market conditions, less
costs to sell,

[eferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses and allowances to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.

Details of the measurement of the group’s deferred tax asset recognition and measurement are provided in note
Q.

Properry, plant und equiphient

Depreciation is provided on all property. plant and equipment, other than freehold land. on a straight-line basis
at rates calculated 1o write off the cost of each asset over the shorter of its leasing period or estimated useful
life. Useful lives are reviewed annually and where adjustments are required. these are made prospectively.

The nature and amount of labour and other costs to be capitalised with respect to construction and installation
activities involves significant judgement. [n addition to direct external and internal labour and materials, the
group also capitalises other costs directly attributable to the group’s construction and installation activities.
including dispatch costs. quality-control costs. vehicle-related costs and certain warehouse-related costs. The
capitalisation of these costs is based on time sheets. time studies. standard costs, call tracking sy stems and other
verifiable means that directly link the costs incurred with the applicable capitalisable activity. The group
continuousky monitors the appropriateness of its capitalisation policies and update the poiicies when necessary
to respond to changes in facts and circumstances, such as the development of new products and services, and
changes in the manner that installations or construction activities are performed.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Management uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments { where active market
quotes are not available) and non-financial assets. This involves developing estimates and assumptions
consistent with how market participants would price the instrument.

Management bases its assumptions on observable data as far as possible but this is not always available. [n that
case management uses the best information available. Estimated fair values may vary from the actual prices that
would be achieved inan arm’s length transaction at the reporting date (see note 2.
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements
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Accounting policies (continued)

Bavxis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. The group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power aver the entity. [n assessing control, the group takes into consideration potential voting rights. The
acquisition date is the date on which controb is transferred to the acquirer. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the
nen-controfling interests even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance,

Acquisitions under common control

Business combinations between entities that are under common control are accounted for at book value. The
assets and liabilities acquired or transferred are recognised or derecognised at the carrying amounts previously
recognised in the group controlling shareholder's consofidated financial statements. The components of equity
of the acquired entitics are added to the same components within the group equity and any gain/loss arising is
recognised directly in equity.

Transuactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with eguity-accounted investees are
eliminated apainst the investment to the extent of the group’s inferest in the investee. Lnrealised losses are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains. but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment,

Foreign currency transiation

The group’s consclidated financial statements are presented in pound sterling. which is also the parent
company’s functional currency. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the local entity’s
tunctional currency by applying the exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated (n foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling
at the balance sheet date. All exchange differences are included in the Group Income Statement, except where
hedge-accounting is applied and tor differences on monetary assets and liabilitics that form part of the group’s
net investment in a foreign operation. These are recorded directly in equity until the disposal of the net
investment, at which time they are reclassilied (rom equity o profit o [uss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measurcd at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Goodwill

Business combinations. other than common control business combinations, are accounted for using the
acquisition method as at the acquisition date. which is the date on which control is transferred to the group. The
group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

e the fair value of the consideration transferred: pius

s the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree: plus

» the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree; less

» the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed.

Costs related to acquisitions, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, are expensed
as incurred.

When the excess is negative any gain on bargain purchase is recognised in profit or loss immediately.
Any contingenat consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent

consideration is classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity.
Otherwise. subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
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2

Accounting policies (continued)

On a transaction-by-transaction basis. the group elects to measure non-controlling interests, which have bath
present ownership interests and are entitled 1o a propartionate share of net assets of the acquiree in the event of
liquidation, either at its fair value or at its proportionale interest in the recognised amount of the identifiable net
assets of the acquiree at the acquisition date. All other non-controlling interests are measured at their fair value
at the acquisition date,

Property, plunt and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. The cost includes costs directly attributable to making the asset capable of operating as intended.
Property. plant and equipment acquired through business combinations is initially recorded at fair value on
acquisition.

Depreciation is provided on all property. ptant and equipment. other than freehold land. on a straight-line basis
at rates calculated to write off the cost of each asset over the shorter of its leasing peried or estimated useful life
as follows:

Netwark assets, cable plant and equipment
Network assets - 3-30years

Network assets includes construction in progress which is not depreciated and comprises of materials,
consumables and direct labour relating to network construction and is stated at the cost incurred in bringing
each product to its present location and condition. as follows:

Raw materials and consumables - Purchase cost

Work in progress - Cost of direct materials and labour
{ther fixed assets

Right-of-use property - Period of lease

Freehold property, other than tand - 30 years

L.easehold improvements - 20 years or, if less, the term of the lease
Fumniture and fixtures - 5 - 12 years

Computer equipment - 3-3vyears

Motor vehictes - Syears

Labour costs relating to the design. construction and development of the network, capital projects, and related
services are capitalised and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the life of the relevant assets.

The carrving values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying valucs may not be recoverable. The useful lives and residual values are
reviewed annually and where adjustments are required, these are made prospectively.

Impairment of intungible asyety and property, plant and equipment

In accordance with 1AS 36 Tmpuairment of vsets’, intangible assets with finite lives are amortised on a straight-
line basis over their respective estimated useful lives. and reviewed for indications of impairment at each
reporting date. 1f any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset s required. the
group makes an estimate of the asset's recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of its
fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written
down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use. the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
meney and the risks specific to the asset. [mpairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the
Crroup Income Statement in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. [f such indication exists, the recoverable amount
is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. other than on goodwill. only if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss
was recognised.
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Accounting policies (continued)

Provisions for liabilities and charges

Provisions are recorded when the group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event for
which it is probabie that the group will be required to settle by an outflow of econemic benefits and for which a
reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provisions are reviewed at each halance sheet
date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimare.

Where the effect of the time value of moneyv is material. the amount of the provision is the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settie the obiigation.

Leuses

On the lease commencement date. (i) a ROU asset is recognised representing the right to use an underlying
asset and (1i) lease liabilities representing the group’s obligation to make lease payments over the lease term.
Lease and non-lease components in a contract are generally accounted for separately.

The group initially measures lease liabilities at the present value of the remaining lease payments over the lease
term. Options to extend or terminate the lease are included only when it is reasonably certain that the option
will be exercised. As most of the group's leases do not provide enough information to determine an implicit
interest rate, a portfolio level incremental borrowing rate is used in the present value calculation. ROU assets
are initially measured at the value of the lease liability. plus any initial direct costs and prepaid lease payments,
less any lease incentives received.

ROU assets are generally depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term or the useful life
of the asset. [nterest expense on the lease liability is recorded using the effective interest method.

Policy upplicable before [ lunuary 2010

In the comparative period under [AS | 7. the group entered into a lease under which it takes substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of an asset, the lease was treated as a finance lease.

The assets were recorded in the balance sheet as a fixed tangible asset and depreciated over their useful
economic lives. Iinance lease debtors were recorded in the balance sheet. and future instalments payable under
finance leases were included within creditors, net of finance charges. Rentals receivable and payable under
these hinance lease arrangements are apportioned: the finance elements were recorded in the profit and loss
account on a reducing balance basis and the capital elements reduced the outstanding liability or asset in
accordance with the terms of the contract.

Rentals applicable to operating leases where substantially all of the benefits and risks of ownership remained
with the lessor. were charged to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis over the period of the [ease.

[aterest bearing loans and borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value less directly astributable fransaction costs.

After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Gains and losses arising on the repurchase. settlement or otherwise cancellation of liabilities are recognised
respectively in finance income and finance costs.

Finance costs which are incurred in connection with the issuance of debt are deferred and set off against the

porrowings to which they relate. Deferred finance costs are amortised over the term of the related debt using the
effective interest method.

30
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Accounting policies {continued)

Derivative financiul instruments and hedging

The group has established policies and procedures to govern the management of its exposure (o interest rate and
foreign currency exchange rate risks through the use of derivative financial instruments. including interest rate
swaps. Cross currency interest rate swaps and foreign currency forward rate contracts.

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value at each balance sheet date.

Derivatives are recognised as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair
value is negative.

The foreign currency forward rate contracts, interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps are
valued using internal models based on observable inputs, counterparty valuations or market transactions in
either the listed or over-the counter markets, adjusted for non-performance risk. Non-performance risk is based
upen quaoted credit default spreads for counterparties to the contracts and swaps, Derivative contracts which are
subject to master netting arrangements are not offset and have not provided, nor require, cash collateral with
any counterparty.

While these instruments are subject to the risk of loss from changes in exchange rates and interest rates, these
losses would generally be offset by gains in the related exposures. Financial instruments are only used to hedge
underlying commercial exposures. The group does not enter into derivative financtal instruments for speculative
trading purposes, nor does it enter into derivative financial instruments with a level of complexity or with a risk
that is greater than the exposure to be managed.

For derivatives which are designated as hedges the hedging relationship is documented at its inception. This
documentation identifies the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the pature of the risk being
hedged and how effectiveness will be measured throughout its duration. Such hedges are expected at inception
to be highly effective.

The group designates certain derivatives as either fair value hedges. when hedging exposure to variability in the
fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or firm commitments, or as vashflow hedges. when hedging
exposure (o variability in cash flows that are either attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised
asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction.

Derivatives that are not part of an effective hedging relationship. as set out in IFRS 9. must be classified as held
for trading and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The treatment of gains and losses arising from revatuing derivatives designated as hedging instruments depends
upon the nature of the hedging relationship and are treated as follows:

Cuash flow hedges

Far cash flow hedges. the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly
in Other Comprehensive Income. while the ineffective portion is recognised in the Group Income Statement.
Amounts taken to Other Comprehensive Income are reclassified to the Group Income Statement when the
hedged transaction is recognised in the Group Income Statement, such as when a forecast sale or purchase
occurs, in the same tine of the Group Income Statement as the recognised hedged item. Where the hedged item
is the cost of a non-financial asset or liability, the gains and losses previously accumulated in equity are
trans ferred to the initial measurement of the cost of the non-financial asset or liability. If a forecast transaction
is no longer expected to oceur. the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in the Group
Income Statement. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold. terminated or exercised without replacement or
rollover, or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, amounts previously recognised in Other Comprehensive
Income remain in equity until the forecast transaction occurs and are reclassified to the Group [rcome
Statement.
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Accounting policies (continued)

Fuair value hedges

For fair value hedges, the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are recognised in the Group
Income Statement immediately. together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that
are attributable to the hedged risk. The change in the fair vailue of the hedging instrument and the change in the
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognised in the line of the Group Income Statement relating to
the hedged item.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold. terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or it'its
designation as a hedge is revoked. then the fair value adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged ttem
arising from the hedged risk is amortised to profit or loss from that date.

Inventories

Inventory consists of goods for resale and programing inventories which are valued at the lower of cost or net
realisable value using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. Cost represents the invoiced purchase cost of
inventory. Net realisable value is based on judgements. using currently available information about obsolete.
slow moving or defective inventory. Based upon these judgements and estimates, which are applied consistently
from period to period. an adjustment is made to state the carrying ameunt of inventory held for resale at the
lower of cost and net realisable value.

Trade and other receivables

Qur trade receivables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently reported at amortised cost, net ol an
allowance for impairment of trade receivables. The allowance for impairment of trade receivables is estimated
based upon our assessment of anticipated loss related to uncollectible accounts receivable. We use a number of
factors in determining the allowance. including, among other things, collection trends, prevailing and
anticipated economic conditions. and specific customer credit risk. The allowance is maintained until either
payment is received or the likelihood of collection is considered te be remote. For additional information
regarding our trade receivable and allowance for impairment of trade receivables. see note 13.

Concentration of credit risk with respect (o trade receivables is limited due to the large number of residential
business customers. We also manage this risk by disconnecting services to customers whose accounts are
delinguent.

Cush uand short term deposits

Cash and short-term deposits in the Group Balance Sheet comprise cash at banks and in hand and short-term
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, For the purpose of the Group Cash Flow Statement.
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short term deposits as defined above, nct of outstanding bank
overdrafts.

Tax

(wrrent income (ax

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates and laws that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet
date.

Current income tax relating 1o items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the income
staternent. The directors periodically evaiuate positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establish provisions where appropriate.
Income tax is charged or credited to Other Comprehensive Income if it relates to items that are charged or
credited to Other Comprehensive Income.
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Accounting policies (continued)

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the 1ax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

e  When the deferred 1ax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction. affects neither the
accounting prefit nor taxable profit or loss.

* in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries. associates and
interests in joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences. the carry forward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences. and the carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losscs can be utiliscd. except:

e When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

s In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent thal it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxabie prefit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the
asset is realised or the lability is settled. based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating 1o items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside prefit or loss. Deferred tax
items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in Other Comprehensive Income or
directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists 1o set off current tax
assels against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate (o the same taxable entity and the same
taxation authority.

Pensions

The group contributes to the Virgin Media sponsored group personal pension plans for eligible employees.
Contributions to these schemes are recognised in the Group Inceme Statement in the period in which they
become pavable. in accordance with the rules for each of the plans.

The group operates three defined benefit pension plans. which require contributions to be made to separately
administered funds. The plans are closed to new entrants.

The regular cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is attributed to individual years using the
projected unit credit method. Variations in pension cost, which are identified as a result of actuarial valuations,
are amortised over the average expecied remaining working lives of employees in proportion to their expected
payroll costs. Past service costs are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period or immediately if the benefits have vested.

o
)
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2 Accounting policies (continued)

When a settlement (eliminating all obligations for benefits already accrued) or a curtailment (reducing future
obligations as a result of a material reduction in the scheme membership or a reduction in future entitlement)
occurs, the obligation and related scheme assets are re-measurcd using the current actuarial assumptions and the
resultant gain or loss recognised in the Group Income Statement during the period in which the settierment or
curtailment pceurs.

The interest element of the defined benefit pension cost represents the change in present value of scheme
obligations resulting from the passage of time and is determined by applying the discount rate to the opening
present value of the benefit obligation. taking into account material changes in the obligation during the year.
The expected return on scheme assets is based on an assessment made at the beginning of the year of long term
market returns on scheme assets, adjusted for the effect of fair value of the scheme assets of contributions
received and benefits paid during the year. The difference between the expected return on scheme assets and
the interest cost is recognised in the Group Income Staternent.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period
in which they occur.

The defined benefit pension asset or lability in the Group Balance Sheet comprises the total for each scheme of
the present value of the defined benetit obligation {using a discount rate based on high quality corporate bonds),
less any past service cost not yet recognised and less the fair value of scheme assets out of which the obligations
are 1o be sertled directly. Fair value (s based on market price information and. in the case of quoted securities,
is the published bid price.

Revenue recognition

Revenue earned from contracts to be recognised in line with pertormance obtigations based on a five-step
modetl.

On inception of the contract we identify a “performance obligation™ for cach of the distinet goods or services
we have promised to provide to the customer. The consideration specitied in the contract is allocated 1o each
performance obligation identified based on their relative standalone selling prices, and is recognised in revenue
as they are satisfied. The following table summarises the performance obligations we have identified for our
major revenue lines and provides information on the time of when they are satisfies and the related revenue
recognition policy.

Resvenue line Performance obligation Revenue recognition policy

Service revenue Cable

Networks

Provision ol video. broadband internet and fixed-line
telephony services over our cable network o
customers.

Performance obligations are identified for cach
distingt service lor which the customer has contracted
and are considered w be satistied over the time period
that these services are delivered.

Revenue for these tyvpes of services
1s recoenised evenly over the period
ol the agreement as the services are
provided.

Installation and other
uptront lees

When the group enters into contracts to provide
sertices o customers. the group oflen charges
installation er other uplront lees

Ihe group is obliged W ensure it can supply services
to the customer premise as per the customer contract
I'his Includes cable plant and equipment installation
al the customers premise.

Instullation is not considered us a separale
perlormance obligation,

[hese lees are generally delerred
and recogpised as resenue over the
contraclual period. or longer if the
uplront lee results in a material
rencwal right.
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2 Accounting policies (continued)

132B revenue

Provision of data. voice and network solution
services, including the sale and mainlenance of
cyuipment 1o busincss customers. Installation charges

- are charged (n relation w the provision of services.

lhe group is obliged to provide the customer with the
connectivity services and or equipment stipulated the
customer contract.

Installation is not considered us a separate
pertormance oblnzation.

- arrangement ot the expected period
of pertormance.

© From time to tme. we also enter
©into agreements with certain B2B

he group defer uptront installation
and certain nonrecurring fees
received on business-to-business
contracts where we maintain
ownership ol the installed
cquipment. The deferred fees are
amortised into revenue on a
strafght-line basis. generally over
the longer ofthe term of the

customers pursuant to which they
are provided the right to use certuin
clements of our network. 1 these
agreements are determined to
contain a lcase that meets the
criteria to be considered a sales-
npe lease. we recognize revenue
from the lease component when
control ol the network clement is
transterred to the custemer.

Mobile revenueg —
AIrlime services

Proviston of minutes, texts and data over our Mohile
network.

The group is obliged to provide the customer with a
SIM which is provisioned with contracted allowances
cach month.

The group recognise revenue from
mobile services in the period in
which the related services are
provided. Revenue from pre-pay
customers is deferred prior to the
commencement of services and
recognised as the services are
rendered or usage rights expire.

Mobile revenue -
Handsets

Provision of mobile handset delivery to the customer.

he group is obliged to provide delivery ot mobile
handsets as requested by the customer.

Arrangement consideration
allocated to handsets is recognised
as revenue when the goods have
been delivered and Ltle has passed.
For customers under a mobile
handset instalment contract that is
independent of & mebile airtime
SCIVICes contracl. revenue is
recognised upon delivery.

[here are no material obligations in respect of retumns. refunds or warranties.

Consideration from mobile contracts is allocated to the airtime service component and the handset compenent
based on the relative standalone selling prices of each component. When the group offer handsets and airtime
services in separate contracts entered into at the same time. the group account for these contracts as a single
contract.

[ncremental revenues are generated based on usage for calls and video on demand. The entity has a right to
consideration from the customer at an amount that corresponds directly with the value to the customer of the
enlity’s performance completed to date. therefore the entity recognises the revenue to the extent to which it has
aright to involce.

For subseriber promotions, such as discounted or f(ree services during an introductory period, reverue is
recognised uniformly over the contractual period if the contract has substantive termination penalties. [T a
contract does not have substantive termination penalties. revenue is recognized only to the extent of the
discounted monthly fees charged to the subscriber. ifany.
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2

Accounting policies (continued)

Other income

[nierest income is recognised as interest acerues according to the effective interest method which uses the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the
net carry ing amount.

Share-based payments

The company is an indirect. wholly-owned subsidiary of Virgin Media Inc. and Liberty Global ple. The
company has no share-based compensation plans. Employees render services in exchange for shares or nights
over shares (equity-settled transactions) of Liberty Glebal ple common stock.

I'he cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
which they are granted. The fair value of options and share appreciation rights are determined using the Black-
Scholes model. The fair value of restricted share units is determined using either the share price at the grant date
or the Monte Carlo model, depending on the conditions attached to the restricted share units being granted.
These (ransaction costs are recognised, together with a corresponding increase in either equity or amounts owed
to parent undertakings, over the service period. or, if applicable, over the period in which any performance
conditiens are fulfilled, which ends on the date on which the relevant employees become tully entitled to the
award (vesting date). The cumulative expense recognised for equity settled transactions at each reporting date,
until the vesting date, reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the number of awards that
are estimated to ultimately vest, in the opinion of management at that date and based on the best available
information.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional
upon a market vesting condition. which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.
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3 Segment information

The principal activity of the company is to facilitate the group's financing structure by implementing the group's
capital management policies, making and facititating external borrowings and holding investments in subsidiary
cempanies. The company’s investments include all of the Virgin Media group’s trading operating companies.

The Virgin Media group’s reporting segments are based on its method of internal reporting to the Liberty
Global group and the information used by its chief executive officer. who is the chief operating decision maker
(~CODM™), to evaluate segment performance and make capital allocation decisions.

{t has been determined that the Virgin Media group comprises a single operating segment. This reflects how the
CODM reviews the results of the group’s business based on revenue and profitability measures.

There is no material difference between the revenue presented to the CODM and the revenue of the Virgin
Media Finance PLC group. Revenue for the group was £35,168.1 million {2018 - £5,150.3 million) and was
entirely derived from the sale of goods and services.

Creographic Lacations
The group™s revenue by geographic location is set out below:

2019 2018
£ million £ million
UK 4.763.5 4.757.7
Ireland 4026 3926
Total 5.168.1 5.150.3
4 Group operating profit
This is stated after charging (crediting):
2019 2018
£ mitlion £ milliom
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,004.7 1.027.1
Depreciation of right of use assets 42.0 9.8
Total depreciation 1.046.7 1,036.9
Amortisation of intangible assets 1931 185.8
Rent of premises 29.8 28.2
Gain on disposal of property. plant and equipment (3.3 (2.3)
Cost of inventories recognised within cost of sales 210.4 2323
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th

Auditor’s remuneration

I'he group paid the following amounts to its auditors in respect of the audit of the financial statements and for
other services provided to the group.

Fees paid to the auditor for audit and other services w the company are not disclosed in its individual accounts
as the group accounts are required to disclose such fees on a consolidated basis.

Fees pavable to the company’s auditors and their associates for other services represents fees pavable for
services in relation to other statutory filings or engagements that are required to be carried out by the group's
auditors.

2019 2018
£ million £ million

Audit services:
Statutory audit services - audit of the parent company and group 0.
tinancial statements

Fees payable to the company's auditors and their associates tor other services:
Statutory audit services - statutory accounts of the company's subsidiaries 0.2 0.2

A
=
>/

0.7 0.7

6  Staff costs and directors’ emoluments
(at Statt costs

Included in wages and salaries is a total expense for share-based payvments ot £48.3 million {2018 - £27.2
miltion). all of which arises from transactions accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions.

Further information on compensation of key management personnel is disclosed in the related party
transactions {note 28).

2019 2018

£ million £ million

Wages and salaries 3995 391.9

Social security costs 36.6 56.2

Pension costs - defined benefit scheme 1.6 3.8

Pension costs - defined contribution scheme 27.6 24.5

T'otal staff costs 6853 676.4

tb) Average staff numbers

The average monthly number of emplovees during the vear was:

2019 2018

No. No.

Consumer 3,856 6,995

Support, Technology and [nnovation 3,942 3.254

Business 2201 2,390

lightning 887 863

Mobile 52 73

T'otal staft numbers 12,048 13,575
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6  Staff costs and directors® emoluments {continued)
(c) Directors” emoiuments
There were no other transactions with directors during the year.
2019 2018
£ 009 £ 000
Directors' remuneration 3.938 3,332
Amounts receivable under long term incentive plans 1.510 435
Total remuneration 5,449 3,787
Company contributions paid to meney purchase pension plans 18 10
Highest paid director:
Remuneration (including awards receivable under long term incentive plans) 2,148 2.243
Company contributions paid to money purchase pension plans 9 1O
2,137 2,253
2019 2018
No. No.
Number of directors accruing benefits under money purchase plans 3 3
Number of directors who exercised share options under schemes
operated by ultimate parent company 3 4
Number of directors with shares received or receivable under long
term incentive plans 3 4
7 Finance income

Other finance income and interest on amounts due from group undertakings and related parties are recognised

using the effective interest rate method in accordance with IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments’.

2019 2018

£ million £ million

Interest on ameunts due from related parties 2833 3134
Gain on foreign exchange 200.7 -

Gain on derivative financial instruments - 437.5

Gain on fair value of financial instruments - 0.8

Other finance income 0.6 0.4

Interest on pensions 23 1.6

Total finance income 487 4 7337
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8

Finance costs

Interest payable is recognised using the etfective interest rate methad.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, loss on extinguishment of debt was £188.8 million (2018 - £29.0
million) and related to the redemption premium paid and the write off of deferred financing costs as a result of
the redemption of the senior notes, senior secured notes and senior credit facilities from refinancing activities

during the year (see note 17).

[nterest payable on:
Senior credit facility and vendor financing
Senior notes
Loans from related parties
Loss on derivative financial instruments
Loss on foreign exchange
L.0ss on debt extinguishment
Loss on fair value of financial instruments
Interest payvable on leases
Unwinding of discounts on provisions
Other interest and fees
Total finance costs

Tax
(a) Tux expense on profit before tax
(urrent facome tax:
UK waes
Deferred income tax:
Origination and reversal of temporary differences

Movement in deferred tax assets due to change in tax rate
Prior year adjustment

Total tax expense in Group Income Statement

(b) Reconciliativn of the totul tux expense in the Group Income Statement

2019
£ million

2018
£ million

2494
391.8
0.3
326.1
200

6.
|

e — ©

s
0089

2019 2018

£ million £ million
0.7 5.2

0.0 5.3

()84 L)().I
(3.9) (20.3)

7.6 1.7

102.1 833
1030 1’388

Group [ncome Statement tax expense reconciliation to the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19%

(2018 - 19%):

Profit before income tax

Profit multiptied by the UK standard rate of corporation
tax of 19% (2018 - 19.25%)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Utilisation of tax losses and other deductions
Other
Movement in deferred lax assets due to change in tax rate
Adjustment relating to prior years
Total tax expense recognised in the group income statement

40

2019 2018
£ million £ million
680.1 473.4
129.2 89.9
6.7 15.4
(38.2) (10.9)
1.6 9.9
(3.9 (20.3)
7.6 4.7
103.0 88.8
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9 Tax (continued)

(¢) Reconciliation of the total tax expense

2019 2018

£ million £ million

Tax recognised ir the Group Income Statement 103.0 88.8
Tax recognised in equity ¢1.0) 1.4
Total tax expense 102.0 90.2

(d} Recognised deferred tax

Recognised deferred tax assets at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 were as follows:

2019 2018
£ million £ million
UK deferred tax assets:
Depreciation and amortisation [.370.1 1.499.9
Derivative instruments 11.2 (6.7)
Net operating losses £57.4 1369.0
Other 5.3 13.1
Total UK deferred tax asseis 1.544.2 1,643.3

The group has determined it probable that in future it will generate sufficient pre-tax profits to utilise
substantially ali of its deferred tax assets related to unclaimed capital allowances.

[n the March 2020 Budget it was announced that the UK tax rate will remain at the current 19%% and not reduce
to 17% from [ April 2020. This will have a consequential effect on the group’s future tax charge. If this tax rate
change had been substantively enacted at the current balance sheet date the deferred tax asset would have
increased by £182.3 million.

fe) Unrecognised deferred tax

Deferred tax assets in respect of the following amounts have not been recognised as there is not currently
persuasive evidence that there will be suitable taxable prefits against which these timing differences will

reverse.
2019 2018

£ million £ million

Net operating losses +79.0 4159
Capital losses {21046 12,1050
Other timing differences 3140 364.7
12,897.6 12,885.6
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9

Tax (continued)

() Movement in deferred tax balances
Movements in deferred tax during the year:

1 January
2019
£ million
Depreciation and wnortusation 14999
Derivative instruments (6.7)
Net operating losses 139.0
{Jher 13.1
1.645.3

Recognised in
income
£ million

(129.8)
17.9
18.4
(8.5}

(102.0)

Recognised in
equity
£ million

31 December
2019
£ million

MMovements in deferred tax during the prior year:

1 January

2018

£ million

Depreciation and umortisation 1.5377.5
Derivative instruments 6.9
Net operating fosses 133.6
Other [2.2
1.730.2

Recognised in
income
£ million

(77.6)

(13.6)
5.4
23

(83.5)

Recognised in
equity
£ million

(4

(1.4

31 December
2018
£ mitlion

1.499.9
(6.7)

139.0

13.1

1,645.3
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10 Intangible assets

(a) Summary of intangible assets

Goodwill IT Software Other Total

£ million £ million £ million £ million
Cost
At [ January 2018 2.300.1 387.7 21.7 29095
Impairment - (8.6) - (8.6}
Additions 1.5 160.4 - [61.9
Disposals - (83.7} - (93.7)
Effect of movement in exchange rates 2.2 22
At 31 December 2018 and | January 2019 2.303.8 6:45.8 2.7 2971.3
Impairment - 0.4 - (0.3)
Additions - 8G.2 - 8%.2
Disposals - (75.1) - (75.)
Effect of movement in exchange rates (12.6) - - (12.6)
At 31 December 2019 22912 639.3 217 2,072.4
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Al | January 2018 138.0 178.8 1.2 318.0
Amortisation charge - 171.1 147 [85.8
Disposals - 193.7) - (93.7)
At 3] December 2018 and 1 January 2019 138.0 256.2 15.9 410.1
Amortisation charge - 162.0 l. 193.1
Disposals - (75.H - (75.1)
At 31 December 2019 138.0 373.1 17.0 528.1
Net book value
At 31 December 2019 2,133.2 286.4 +.7 24443
At 31 December 2018 2,165.8 389.6 3.8 2.561.2
At ] January 2018 2, 162.1 108.9 20.3 2,591.5

The amortisation charge has been recognised through administrative expenses in the Group [ncome Statement.

(h) Impairment of goodwill and intangibie assets with indefinite livey

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but instead are tested for
impairment at least annually. Goodwill is zllocated to reporting units, the asscts of which are separately
operated and monitored. Management considers that there are two reporting units relating to the group’s
operations in the UK and [reland.

The group evaluates the recoverable amount of the group’s reporting units, using a fair value less costs to sell
method. The group’s estimate of the recoverable amount is based primarily of observable EBITDA multiples
for recent transactions and publicly-traded peer companies, which are l.evel 2 inputs in the fair value hierarchy.
The group’s 2019 goodwill impairment assessment determined that fair value exceeded the carrying value of
both of the group’s reporting units and as a result conciuded that no impairment to goodwill was required.
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11 Property, plant and equipment

Network
assets Other Totai
£ million £ million £ million
Cost
At 1 January 2018 13,8433 1,343.0 15,186.3
Additions 1.166.6 1643 1.330.9
On acquisition of subsidiary 0.8 - 0.8
Transfers 315 (31.5) -
Effect of movement in exchange rates 7.8 l.1 8.9
Disposals (618.3) (37.H) {635.7)
At 31 December 2018 and | January 2019 144317 14303 15.871.2
Lease opening balance adjustrment 10.5 136.6 147.1
Additions 1.005.4 187.8 1,183.2
Effect of movement in exchange rates {43.5) (3.6) (49.1)
Disposals (79911 (+3.3) ({842.6)
At 31 December 2019 14,6(5.0 1.714.83 16,319.8
Depreciation
At [ January 20 (8 9.129.6 920.0 10.049.6
Provided during the year 921.1 1158 1.036.9
Transter 6.1 (6.1 -
Effect of movement in exchange rates 4.1 0.7 48
Disposals {616.7) (26.5) (643.2)
At 31 December 2018 and ! January 2019 94342 9939 104481
Provided during the vear 890.0 136.7 1.046.7
Impairment release (424.7) - (424.7)
Effect of movement in exchange rates (231 (2.7) (258
Disposals (779.3) 132y (822.5)
At 31 Necember 2019 _ 9.117.1 11047 10.221.8
Net book value
At 31 December 2019 5.487.9 610.1 £.098.0
At 31 December 20138 4,.977.5 443.6 5,423.1
At | January 2018 47137 423.0 3,136.7
['he group did not capitalise any borrowings cosis during the year.
Included in 'Other’ are the following net book values:
2019 2018
£ million £ million
Freehold land and buildings 344 354
L.easchold land and buildings 291 29.8
Leasehold improvements 39.6 62.(
123.1 127.3
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12 Financial assets

2019 2018
£ million £ million

Non-current
Restricted cash 22.0 3.3
Deferred financing costs 16.2 14.5
Derivative instruments {sge note 21) 430.9 7419
Amounts owed by related parties 1.953.8 4.826.0
54229 3.387.9

Current

Derivative instruments {see note 21) 82.4 143.0
Restricted cash 0.1 0.1
82.3 143.1

Amounts owed by related parties are primarily in respect of loan notes receivable from Liberty Global Europe 2
Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Liberty Global plc that sits outside of the Virgin Media group, which
have an aggregate principal balance of £4.926.4 million (2018: £4,826.0 million). These comprise of principal
amount outstanding of £1,501.5 miltion (2018: £1.501.3 million) which incur interest at a rate of 8 5% repayable
in April 2023 and £3.424.9 million (2018: £3,324.5 million) at a rate of 4+.763% (subject to adjustment)

repayable in July 2023,

13 Trade and other receivables

2019 2018
£ million £ million
Nor-current
Prepayments and accrued tncome 36.3 37.3
Other receivables - 0.1
36.3 37.4
Current
Trade rececivables 429 4 417.7
Amounts owed by parent and group undertakings 1.6 -
Amounts owed by related parties 35.3 46.8
Prepayments and accrued income 184.0 1640
630.9 628.5

Prepayments and accrued income classified as non-current include long term telecommunications contract
assets with terms in excess of one year.

Current amounts owed by related parties are unsecured and repayable on demand.

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing, are generally on 30-90 day terms and are stated net of provision for
non-recoverability. The group’s trade and other receivables have been reviewed for indicators of impairment
and it was concluded that a provision for non-recoverability of £19.5 million (2018 - £19.6 million) was
required. The carrying value of trade receivables is considered to be a fair approximation of fair value.

The allowance for doubtful accounts is based upon the group’s assessment of probable loss related to
uncollectible trade receivables, The group uses a number of factors in determining the allowance. including.
among other things. collection trends. prevailing and anticipated economic conditions and specific customer
credit risk. The allowance is maintained until either receipt of payment or the likelihood of collection is
considered to be remote.
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t3 Trade and other receivables (continued)

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables were as follows:

At | January 2018
Charge for the year
Utilised

At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019

Charge for the year
L tilised
At 31 December 2019

The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as tollows:

Total

£ million

31 December 2019 4204
31 December 20318 417.7

14 Inventories

Goods for resale
Programming inventory

Total Inventory

—
h

Cash and short term deposits

£ million
331
25.7
{39.2;
19.6
232
123.3)
19.5
Neither
past due nor Balances past due
impaired <30 days  30-60 days 60 - 90 days >90 days
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
3216 346 244 6.8 390
516.4 38.0 9.4 7.8 36.1
2019 2018
£ million £ million
30.9 320
23.7 28.7
34,6 60.7

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for
varving periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
group, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. The fair value of cash and cash equivatents
including overdrawn cash book balances at 31 December 2009 was £33.9 million {2018 - £16.2 million).

Cash at bank and in hand
Short-term deposits

46

019 2018
£ millioa £ million
339 161
- 0.]
339 16.2
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16 Trade and other payables

17

Current

Trade payables

VAT, payroll taxes and social security costs
Interest payable

Amounts owed to parent and group undertakings
Amounts owed to related party

Accruals and deferred income

2019
£ million

—_ —
i O™ th
i —

4+ n
3 oo 12

842.5

T R

LA
Rl
Ne)

2018
£ million

375.9
148.9
197.7
36.7
63.9
839.9
1,663.0

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and generally repayable on terms of up to 60 days. Trade pavables,
interest payable and amounts owed to group undertakings are financial liabilities which are excluded from note

17.

Amounts owed to group undertakings and to related parties are unsecured and repayable on demand.,

Nuon-current
Other long term payables

Other long term payables consist of property and restructuring costs provisions.

Financial liabilities

Current

Lcase liabilities (see note 18)
Current instalments due on other debt
Derivative instruments (see note 21)
Vendor financing

Non-current

l.case liabilities (see notw 18)

Non-current instalments due on senior eredit lacility
Senior notes

Senior seeured notes

Non-current instalments due on other debt
Derivative instruments {see noie 21)

Vendor financing

Total financial liabilities

47

2019
£ million

26.8

2019
£ million

2.031.3

188.0
3,998.4
1.187.3
1.471.9
142.7
4128
72.4

10 463.5
12,494 .8

2018

£ million

36.8

2018
£ million

5.7
77.2
81.9

1.848.3
2,013.1

10.732.3
12,745.6
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17 Financial liabilities (continued)

Borrowings at 3! December were repayable as follows:

2019 2018
£ million £ million
Amounts falling due:
Within one year 1,804.4 1.981.0
In more than one year but not more than five years 340.2 803.1
In more than five years 96376 94885
11.782.2 123726
Less: issue costs (43.3) {55.7)
Total borrowings 11,7360 123169
Financial liabilities not classed as borrowings 7579 428.7
Total financial liabilities 12,4948 12,7456

Finmancial liabilities not classed as borrowings include amounts payable to parent and group undertakings.
obligations under leases. interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rale swaps.

Loans repayable in more than five years are as follows:

2019 2018

Loans repavable after 5 years: £ million £ million
Senior notes 1.057.2 1.417.0
Senior secured notes 4,490.8 1,476.6
Senior credit facilities 40146 35635
Other debt 73.0 314
9.637.6 G 488.3

Vendor financing

The group enters into vendor financing arrangements to finance certain property and equipment addiions and
operating costs. | he amounts owed pursuant o these arrangenenls are interest bearing and include YAT which
was paid on the group’s behalf by the vendor. Repayments of vendor financing obligations are included in the
repayment of borrowings in the Group Cash Flow Statement. The weighted average cost of vendor financing
debt is 4.96% and is substantially due within | vear.

Senior notes

2019 2018
£ million £ million
Senior notes consist of
LS. Dollar
5.25% senior notes due 2022 (principal at maturity 32 million) }j88 49.6
+.875% senior notes due 2022 i principal a1 matority $72 million) 540 58.3
6.00% senior notes due 2024 (principal ai maturity $497 million) 374.7 390.0
5.75% senior notes due 2025 (principal at maturity $389 million) 2031 313.8
760.6 811.7
Sterling
5.125% senior notes due 2022 {principal at maturity £44 milliony H1 441
6.375% senior notes due 2024 (principal at maturity £300 million) - 300.0
448 3440
Euro
4.3%% senior notes due 2023 (principal at maturity €460 million) 3804 4133
Less: issue costs (6.8) (104
Total senior notes [.187.3 1.558.7
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Senior secured notes

2019 2018
£ million £ million
Senior secured notes consist of:
U.S. Dollar
5.25% senior secured nates due 2021 {principal at maturity $448 million} - 402.7
3.5% senior notes due 20235 (principal at maturity $425 million) - 2781
5.25% senior notes due 2026 principal at maturity $1.000 million) - 787.4

5.5% senier notes due 2026 (principal at maturity $750 million) 363.6 5884
3.5% senior notes due 2029 (prinipal at maturity $823 million) 1.081.9 -
1.647.5 2,056.6
Sterling
5.5% senior secured notes due 2021 (principal at maturity £107 million) - 125.7
3.3% senior secured notes due 20235 (principal at maturity £387 million) - 387.0
5.123% senier secured notes due 20235 (principal at maturity £300 million} - 300.0
6.00%% senior secured notes due 2023 (principal at maturity £521 million) 340.1 3332
5.00% senior secured notes due 2027 (principal at maturity £675 million) 675.0 673.0
4.873% senior secured notes due 2027 (principal at maturity £523 million) 325.0 3250
6.25% senior secured notes due 2029 (principal at maturity £360 million} 362.0 4024
5.25% senior secured notes due 2029 (principal at maturity £340 million} 341.2 -
4.23% senior secured notes due 2030 (principal at maturity £400 million) 400.0 -
2.8433 2,948.3
Less: issue costs (18.9) {18.2)
4,471.9 4.986.7

Total senior secured notes

In May 2019, Virgin Media Secured Finance plc issued (i} $825.0 million (£622.0 million) principal amount of
2029 VM Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (i) £300.0 millicn principal amount ef 2029 VM 35.23% Sterling
Senior Secured Notes. Each series of notes was issued at par and matures on May 13, 2029. The net proceeds
from the issuance of these notes were used to redeem im fuil {a) £387.0 miilion outstanding principal amount
under the 2025 VMl 5.5% Sterling Senior Secured Notes, (b) $354.5 million (£267.3 million) ouistanding
principal amount under the 20235 VM Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (c) £300.0 million outstanding principal
amount under the 2024 VM Sterling Senior Notes. In connection with these transactions. we recognised a loss
on debt modification and extinguishment of £37.4 million related to (1) the payment of £34.0 million of
redemption premiums and (2) the write-off of £3.4 million of unamoertised deferred financing costs and

discounts.

[n July 2019, Virgin Media Secured Finance plc issued an additional $600.0 million {£452.4 million) principal
amount of 2029 VM Dollar Senior Secured Notes at 101.75% of par. The net proceeds from the issuance of
these notes were used to redeem in full (i} $447.9 million (£337.7 million) outstanding principal amount under
the 2021 VM Dellar Senior Secured Notes and (ii) £107.1 million outstanding principal amount under the 2021
VM Sterling Senior Secured Notes. In August 2019, we issued an additional £40.0 million principal amount of
2029 VM 5,25% Sterling Senior Secured Notes at 103% of par. The net proceeds from the issuance of thesc
notes were used to redeem an equal outstanding principal amount of 2029 Vi 6 23% Sterling Senior Secured
Notes. [n connection with these transactions. we recognised a net loss on debt medification and extirguishment
of £23.3 miilion related to (a) the payment of £25.7 million of redemption premiums and (b) the write-off of
£2.4 million of net unamortised deferred financing costs. discounts and premiums.

In the financial yvear 2020. the group completed various financing transactions, see note 31 for further details.

49



Virgin Media Finance PLC

Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

17 Financial liabilities (continued)

Senior credit fucility

2019 2018
Fhe non-current instalments due on the senior credit fucility consists of: £ million £ million
U.S. Dollar
VA Facility K
LIBOR + 2.50% senior credit facility due 2026 (principal at maturity $3,400.0 248201 2.664.6
million)
Euro
VM Facility O
EURIBOR + 2.30°, senior credit facility due 2029 {principal at maturity €750.0 633.4 -
million}
Sterling
VM Facifity L
LIBOR+ 3.25% senior credit facility due 2027 (principal at maturity £400.0 million) 400.0 400.0
VM Facility M
LIBOR + 3.23% senior credit facility due 2027 (principal at maturity £500.0 million) 4961 499.0
S 1046 35636
Less: issue costs (16.2) (23.8)
Senior credit facility due after more than one year 3,998.4 33398
Lhe current instadment of the senior credit facility consisis of
VM Revolving Facility
LIBOR— 2.73% revolving facility - -
Total senior credit facility © 39984 353398

In October 2019, Virgin Media SFA Finance Limited (i) entered tnto VM Facility N, a $3.300.0 million
(£2.488.1 million) term loan facility, and VM Facility O, a €730.0 million (£635.0 million) term loan facility,
both issucd al 99.75% of par, and (ii) issued £400.0 mijlion principal amount of 2030 V] Sterling Senior
Secured Notes at par. The net proceeds from these transactions, together with certain other funds. were used to
(a) prepay in full the $3.400.0 million (£2,563.5 miilion) outstanding principal amount on Vi Facility K and
(b redeem in fuil (1) $1.000.G miliion (£754.0 million} outstanding principal amount of the 2026 VM 3.23%
Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (2) £300.0 million outstanding principal amount of the 2025 VN 5.125%
Sterling Senior Secured Notes. [n connection with these transactions, we recognised a net loss on debt
modification and extinguishment of £53.3 million related to (A) the payment of £36.3 miilion of redemption
premiums and (B) the write-off of £17.0 million of net unamortised deferred financing costs. discounts and

premiums.
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The VM Credit Facility requires that certain members of the Virgin Media Borrowing Group that generate not
less than 80% of such group’s EBITDA (as defined in the VM Credit Facility) in any financial year, guarantee
the payment of all sums payable under the VM Credit Facility and such group members are required to grant
first-ranking security over all or substantially all of their assets to secure the payment of all sums payable. In
addition, the holding company of each borrower must give a share pledge over its shares in such borrower.

At 31 December 2019, the senior secured credit facilities of the group included two multi currency revolving
credit facilities ("Revolving Facility" Revolving Facility A was a multi currency revolving facility maturing on
31 December 2021 with a maximum borrowing capacity equivalent to £50.¢ million, and Revolving Facility B
was a multi currency revolving facility maturing on 13 January 2024 with a maximum borrowing capacity
equivalent to £953.0 million.

In addition to mandatory prepavments which must be made for certain disposal proceeds (subject to certain de
minimis thresholds), the lenders may cancel their commitments and declare the loans due and payable after 30
business davs following the cccurrence of a change of control in respect of Virgin Media Investment Heldings
Limited. subject to certain exceptions.

The VM Credit Facility contains certain customary events of default, the occurrence of which, subject to certain
exceptions and materiality qualifications, would allow the lenders to (i) cancel the total commitments, (ii)
accelerate all outstanding loans and terminate their commitments there under and/or (iii} declare that all or part
of the loans be payable cn demand. The VM Credit Facility contains certain representations and warranties
customary for facilities of this type, which are subject to cxceptions, baskets and materiality qualifications.

The VM Credit Facility restricts the ability of certain members of the Virgin Media Borrowing Group to, among
other things, {i) incur or guarantee certain financial indebtedness, (ii) make certain dispesals and acquisitions
and (iii} create certain security interests over their assets, in cach case. subject to carve-outs from such
limitations.

The VM Credit Facility requires the borrowers to cbserve certain affirmative undertakings or covenants, which
covenants are subject to materiality and other customary and agreed exceptions. In addition. the V&I Credit
Facility also requires compliance with various financial covenants such as Senior Net Debt to Annualised
EBITDA and Total Net Debt to Annualised EBITDA, each capitalised term as defined in the VM Credit
Facility.

in addition to customary default provisions. the VM Credit Facility provides that any event of dcfault with
respect to indebtedness of £50.0 million or more in the aggregate of the compary. and its subsidiaries is an
event of default under the VM Credit Facility.

The VM Credit Facility permits certain members of the Virgin Media Borrowing Group to make certain
distributions and restricted payments to its parent company (and indirectly to Liberty Global) through loans,
advances or dividends subject to compliance with applicable covenants.

Restrictions
The agreements governing the senior notes and the senior credit facility significantly. and. in some cases,
absolutely restrict the group’s ability and the ability of most of its subsidiaries to:

* incur or guarantee additional indebtedness:

s pay dividends or make other distributions. or redeem or repurchase equity interests or subordinated
obligations:

* make investments:

s  sell assets. including shares in subsidiaries:

e create liens:

e enter into agreements that restrict the restricted subsidiaries” abitity to pay dividends. transfer assets or
make intercompany loans:

*  merge or consolidate or transfer substantially all of the group's assets: and

*  enter into transactions with affiliates.
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General
We enter into leases for network equipment, real estate and vehicles.

ROLU assets
Right-of-use assets related to leased properties that do not meet the definition of investment property are
preseated as property. plant and equipment.

2019
£ miilion
Land and Build 1.4
Network 8.2
Other 181.5
201.2
Additions to the right-ot-use assets durtng the 2019 tinancial year were £47.000.000
Amaounts recognised in profit
The income statement shows the following amcunts related to leases:
2619
£ million
Deprectation charge of right-ot-use assets:
Land and Buildings 1.5
Network 34
Other 37.1
42.0
Interest expense 10.8
Short-term lease expense -
52.8
The totai cash outflow for leases in 2019 was £48.000.000.
Lease iiabifities
Maturities of our lease liabilities as of December 31, 2019 are presented befow:
2019
£ million
Less than one year 46.3
One to five years 131.7
More than five years 197.6
Total undiscounted lease liabilities 3756
Impact of finance expenses 154.1)
Lease liability included in the statement of financial position 221.5
Current 333
Non Current 188.0
Check 221.5

The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing, rate applied to the lease Habilities on | January 2019 was
5.64%.



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

19 Provisions

20

Property
related Other
costs provisions Total
£ million £ million £ million
At 31 December 2018 and | January 2019
Current 24 3 5.5
Non-current 116.9 4.0 123.9
1223 7.1 129.4
Established during the year {1.6) 338 322
Used during the year (3.9 {35.8) {39.9)
Revisions in cashflow estimates 1.3 - 1.3
Movement in discount rate 5.4 - 5.4
At 31 December 2019 123.5 5.1 [28.5
Analysed as:
Current 1.4 2.2 36
Non-current 122.1 2.9 124.9
123.5 5.1 128.5

Property reluted costs
Property reiated costs expected to be incurred are mainly in relation to dilapidations costs on leasehold
properties. The majority of the costs are expected to be incurred over the next 23 years.

Other provisions
Other provision elements mainly consist of National Insurance contributions on share options and restricted
stock unit grants and redundancy costs resulting from restructuring programmes.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The group's principal financial liabilities, other than derivatives. comprise bank loans (senior c¢redit facilitv).
senior notes, senior secured notes, finance leases. vendor financing, trade payables. hire purchase contracts and
loans made to parent and fellow group undertakings. With the exception of trade payables the main purpose of
the financial liabilities is to raise finance for the Virgin Media group's operations. The group has various
financial assets such as trade receivables and cash and short term deposits, which arise directly from its
operations.

The group is exposed to various market risks. including credit risk, foreign exchange rate risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. Market risk is the potential loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices. As
some of the group's indebtedness accrues interest at variable rates there is exposure to volatility in future cash
flows and earnings associated with variable interest payments.

Interest and principal obligations on some indebtedness are in U.S. dollars and euros. As a result the group has
exposure to volatility in future cash flows and earnings associated with changes in foreign exchange rates on
payments of interest and principal amounts on a portion of its indebtedness.

The group has entered into various derivative instruments to manage interest rate risk, and foreign exchange
rigk with respect to the U.S. dollar. comprising of interest rate swaps. cross-currency interest rate swaps and
foreign currency forward contracts. The objective is to reduce the volatility of the group’s cash flows and
earnings caused by changes in underlying rates.

The main risks arising from the group's financial liabilities are described below:

Interest rate risk

The group is subject to interest rate risk because it has substantial indebtedness at variable rates of interest. At
31 December 2019, before taking into account hedging instruments, interest is determined on a variable basis
on £4,014.6 million (2018 - £3.563.5 milliont or 32%¢ (2018 - 29%) of indebtedness. relating solely to amounts
drawn down on the senior credit facilities. The group aims to reduce the volatility of its cash flows and eamings
as a result of fluctuations in interest rates through the use of derivative financial instruments.
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Interest rate risk profile of financial assets
I'he group’s financial assets include cash on money market deposit at call, seven day and monthly rates. and
amounts owed by parent undertakings and related parties charged at variable interest rates.

Sensitivity analvsis of changes ininterest rates

Interest rate risks are presented by way of a sensitivity analysis in accordance with [FRS 7 ‘Financial
fnstrumenty. Disclosures'. These show the effects of changes in market interest rates on interest payments.
interest income and expense. other components and, as appropriate, equity. The interest rate sensitivity analyses
are based on the foliowing assumptions:

e Changes in market interest rates of non-derivative tinancial instruments with fixed interest rates only
affect income if measured at fair value. As such, all financial instruments with fixed interest rates that
are carried at amortised cost are not subject to interest rate risk as defined by IFRS 7.

o (Changes in market interest rates affect the interest income or expense of non-derivative variable-
interest financial instruments. the interest payments of which are not designated as hedged items of
cash flow hedges against interest rate rishs. As a consequence, they are included in the calculation of
interest rate sensitivities.

« Changes in the market interest rate of interest rate derivatives (interest rate swaps and cross-currency
interest rate swaps) that are not part of a hedging relationship as set out in IFRS 9 “Flinuncied
Instruments” affect gains or losses on derivatives and are therefore taken into censideration in the
calculation of interest rate sensitivities.

e Foreign currency torward rate contracts are not subject to interest rate risks and theretore do not atfect
interest rate sensitivities.

Based on debt at 31 December 2019, including amounts owed 10 and due from parent and group undertakings.
and taking into consideration hedging instruments. a 0.25% movement in market interest rates would resuit in
an annual increase or decrease in the gross interest income/expense of £8.6 million (2018 - a 0.25% movement
in market interest rates would result in an annual increase or decrease in the gross interest income’expense of
£8.3 million). Movements in gross interest expense would be recognised in finance income and finance costs in
the Group [ncome Statement.

loreign currency exchunge rate risk

The group is also subject to foreign currency exchange risks because interest and principal obligations with
respect 10 a portion of its indebtedness is denominated in U.S. dollars and euros. To the extent that the pound
declines in value against the U.S. dollar and the euro, the effective cost of servicing U.S. dollar and eura
denominated debt will be higher. (hanges in the exchange rate result in foreign currency gains or losses.

As ot 31 December 2019 the group had £4.890.3 million (2018 - £5.532.0 million). or 41% (2017 - 45%) of
external indebtedness. denominated in U.S. dollars and £1,022.9 million (2018 - £413.3 million). or 9% {2018 -
3% of exicrnal indebtedness. denominated in euros {see note [7). The group has a programme in place to
mitigate the risk of tosses arising from adverse changes in foreign currency exchange rates which uses a number
of derivative financial instruments. When taking into consideration cross currency interest rate swaps and
foreign currency forward rate contracts. the majority of external debt is hedged against foreign currency
exchange rate risk.

For the year ended 31 December 2019 the group had foreign currency gains of £200.7 million (2018 — losses of
£326.1 miilion).

The gains for the year ended 31 December 2019 were primarily due to the strengthening of pound sterling
relative to the U.S. dollar in respect of the U1.S. dollar denominated debt issued by the group. partially offsct by
the U S. dollar denominated debt advanced to group undertakings. The losses for the year ended 31 December
2018 were primarily due to the weakening of pound sterling relative to the U.S. dolar in respect of the LS.
dollar denominated debt issued by the wroup, partially offset by the (.S. dollar denominated debt advanced to
group undertakings.
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Sensitivity analysis of changes in fureiygn currency exchange rates

For the presentation of market risks. IFRS 7. "Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ requires sensitivity analysis
that shows the effects of hypothetical changes of foreign currency exchange rates of relevant risk variables on
profit or toss and shareholders’ equity. The periodic effects are determined by relating the hypothetical changes
in risk variables to the balance of financial instruments at the reporting date. 1t is assumed that the balance at the
reporting date is representative of the year as a whole.

Currency risks are defined by IFRS 7 as arising on account of financtal instruments being denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency and being of a monetary nature, Relevant risk variables are
generzlly all non-functional currencies in which the group has financial liabilities, excluding amounts due to
parent undertakings.

The currency sensitivity analysis is based on the following assumptions:

Mlajor non-derivative monetary financial instruments (liquid assets. receivables and finance lease liabilities) are
directly denominated in the functional currency. There are therefore no foreign exchange fluctuations in respect
of these instruments which have an effect on profit or loss or sharcholders’ equity. Interest income and expense
from financial instruments are also either recorded in the functional currency or transferred to the functional
currency using derivatives.

The group has a number of derivative instruments with various counterpariies to manage its exposure (o
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Exchange rate fluctuations, on which the financial instruments are
based, affect gains or losses on derivatives in the finance income or finance costs lines. respectively, of the
Group Income Statement.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the pound sterling against
U.S. dollar and euro exchange rates with all other variables remaining constant, of the group’s profit before tax.
Due to foreign exchange transtation of monetary assets and liabilities. the impact of translating the net assets of
foreign operations into sterling is excluded from the sensitivity analysis:

Inerease/ L{fect on
decrease in profitiless)
exchange before tax
rates £ million
019
Sterling LS. dollar -20% 3213
Sterling LS. dollar 1% 112320
Sterling euro “20% 266.2
Sterfing euro 0% NLXi
s
Sterfing: LS. dollar BuL 9253
Sterling LS. doltar =30t 13885
Sterling euro -2 i
Sterling euro 2% s 4y

Liquidity rish and capital menaygement

The company is a wholly owned subsidiary and its ultimaie parent company is Liberty Giobal plc. Capital
management policies are operated at a Virgin Media group level by the management of Liberty Global plc. The
agreements that govern the Virgin Media group'’s indebtedness set out financial maintenance tests and restrictive
covenants, and it is the policy of the Virgin Media group to maintain adequate headroom against these tests and

covenants.

n
n
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The Virgin Media group's business is capital intensive and the Virgin Media group is highly feveraged. The
Virgin Media group has significant cash requirements for operating costs, capital expenditure and interest
expense. The level of the Virgin Media group's capital and operating expenditures are affected by significant
amounts of capital required to connect customers to the network, expand and upgrade the network and otfer
new services, Cash on hand, together with cash from operations and an undrawn credit facility. are expected 1o
be sufficient for the Virgin Media group's cash requirements through to 12 months from the date of this repont.
The Virgin Media group has significant scheduled repayments that may need te be financed through means
other than reliance on cash flow from operations. such as raising additional debt or equity, refinancing the
existing facility, possible loans from parent undertakings or related parties, sale of assets or other meaps. It may
not be possible to obtain adequate financing, or sell assets ai all, or on favourable terms, or the terms of the
senior credit facility or senior notes may prevent the Virgin Media group from incurring additional indebtedness
or selling assets.

As of 31 December 2019 the group had £11.929.6 million of external debt (including finance leases, vendor
financing and net of deferred finance costs) cutstanding, compared to £12,371.0 miilion as of 31 December
2018 and cash and cash equivalents of £33.9 million compared to £16.2 million at 31 December 2018.

The principal amount outstanding under the senior credit facility at 31 December 2019 was £4.0(4.6 million
12018 - £3,563.7 million). The senior credit facility comprises two term facilities denominated in pounds
sterling of £400.0 million and £499.0 million respectively (2018 - £400.0 million and £499.0 million), ane term
facility denominated in U.S. dollar of £2,482.0 million (2018 - £2,664.6 million), one term tacility denominated
in euro of £633 4 (2018 - £nil} and one revolving facility of £1.000.0 million (2018  two revelving facilities of
£625.0 million and £30.0 million). At 31 December 2019, £4,014.6 million (2018 - £3.539.8 millicn) of the
term facilities net of issue costs had been drawn. The group had £675.0 million available of its revolving credit
facilities for bank guarantees and standby letters of credit.

The group does not have any scheduled principal payments on its senior notes and senior credit facility unil
2022, However, if the group was unable to meet repayment conditions or service these obligations through cash
flows from operations, then jt would need to secure additional funding such as raising additional debt or equity.
refinancing the existing facility, selling assets or using other means. It may not be possible to obtain financing
or self assets, at all or on favourable terms. or the group may be contractually prevented by e lenns of its
senior notes or senior credit facility from incurring additional indebtedness or selling assets.

A maturity analysis of tinancial liabilities, outstanding at 31 December, showing the remaining contractual
undiscounted amounts payable, including interest commitments, is shown below:

Less Cireater than
than | vear 1 to 5 years 5 years Total
2019 £ million £ million £ million £ million
Senior credit facility, senior notes and senior
secured notes 545.3 3.160.3 9.,959.7 13.6635.3
Vendor financing 1.871.7 811 - 1,952.8
Finance lease and hire purchase contracts 8.6 28.2 131.6 1714
Derivative contracts 65.8 198.6 272.0 5336.4
2018
Senior credit facility, senior notes and senior
secured notes 593.3 3,560.2 10,187.8 143413
Vendor financing 1,942.7 48.7 2.7 1.994.)
Finance lease and hire purchase contracts 9.6 285 135.5 173.6
Derivative contracts 109 79.8 283.0 3746

The above amounts exclude other financial liabilitics. such as trade payables. which are all repayable in less
than one year. Amounts owed to parent and group undertakings have also been excluded as they are repayable
on demand.
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21

Crecdit rivk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial {oss for the other party by
failing to discharge an obligation. The group's financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit
risk consist primarily of cash. trade receivables and derivative contracts.

At 31 December 2019, the group had £33.9 million {2018 - £16.2 million) in cash and cash equivalents. These
cash and cash equivalenis are on deposit with a number of major financial institutions and. as part of the Virgin
Media group’s cash management process, regular evaluations of the credit standing of these institutions are
performed using a range of metrics. The group has not experienced any losses in cash balances and
managemment do not believe it is exposed to any significant credit risk on its cash balances.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited because of the large number of
customers and their distribution across a wide geographic area. The Virgin Media group performs credit
evaluations of its business customers’ financial condition and generally does not require collateral. No single
group of customer represents greater than 10% of total accounts receivable.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to derivative contracts are focused within a limited number of
international financial institutions with which the Virgin Media group transacts and relate only to derivatives
with recorded asset balances. The Liberty Global group performs regular reviews of the financial institutions
with which it transacts as to their credit worthiness and financial condition. The group includes a credit risk
adjustment based upon the credit default swap spread in the valuation of derivative instruments. however, the
group does not expect there to be any significant non-performance risks associated with its counterparties.

Financial [nstruments
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities - financial risk management

The company and group have obligations in a combination of US dollars, euros, and pounds sterling at fixed
and variable interest rates. As a result the group is exposed to variability in its cash flows and earnings resulting
from changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates,

The group™s objective in managing its exposure to interest rates and foreign cwrrency exchange rates is to
decrease the volatility of its earnings and cash flows caused by changes in the underlying rates. The group has
established policies and procedures to govern these exposures and has entered into derivative financial
mstruments including interest rate swaps. cross-currency interest rate swaps and foreign currency forward rate
contracts,  Subsidiaries of Virgin Media Finance PLC hold financial instruments which hedge the foreign
currency risk of debt issued by its fellow group undertakings. 1t is the group's pelicy not to enter into derivative
financial instruments for speculative trading purposes, nor to enter into derivative tinancial instruments with a
fevel of complexity or with a risk that is greater than the exposure to be managed. The amounts below include
amounts relating to short term as well as long term payables.

With the exception of a limited number of forcign currency forward contracts, the group has elected not to
designate derivative instruments as accounting hedges. although these remain economic hedges.
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The tair values ot derivative tinancial instruments recognised in the Group Balance Sheet are as tollows:

2019 2018
£ million £ miltion
Inchuded within current assets.
Fuir value hedyes
interest rate swaps 17.7 17.1
Cross-currency inlerest rale swaps 5.8 10.0
Derivatives not designated as hedees
Interest rate swaps 276 21.9
Cross-currency interest rate swaps 313 924
Foreign Currency Forward Contract - L 1.6
82.4 143.0
Included within non-current assels:
Fuir value hedees
Interest rate swaps 8.9 227
Cross-currency interest rate swaps 37.6 75.7
Derivarives aot designaivd as hedges
[nterest rate swaps 733 377
Cross-currency interest rate swaps 304 603.8
430.9 741.9
Includded within current liahilities:
Derivatives not designated as hedves
Interest rate swaps 126.1 47.2
Cross-currency interest rate swaps 7.0 M7
Foreign Currency Forward Contract ‘ 0.5 -
133.6 3.9
Included within non-current fabifitics.
Derivatives not designated as hedges
Interest rate swaps 2410 2425
Cross-currency interest rate Swaps 161.8 304
402.8 292.7

Cross-currency interest rate swaps - hedging the principal and interest pavments of senior notes and
senjor credit facility

The terms of the group’s outstanding cross-currency interest rate swaps, which are used to mitigate the interest
and foreign exchange rate risks relating o the pound sterling value of principal and interest payments on U.S.
dollar and curo denominaied senior notes and senior secured notes at 31 December 2019, were as follows:

Notional Notional
amount amount Weighted
Vinal maturity due from diie to average
date of hedges Hedge type counterparty counterparty remaining
million miliion fife
January 2023 Not designated $246.3 €271.1 3.0
April 2019 - January 2025 Not designated $10,584.7 £7.835.0 5.8
January 2021 Fair value 32729 £168.6 1.0
January 2023 Not designated £2,296.2 $£3.300.0 5.1
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Interest rate swaps - hedging of interest rate sensitive obligations

As of 31 December 2019, the group had outstanding interest rate swap agreemenis © manage the exposure o
variability in future cash flows on the interest payments associated with its senior credit facility which accrues
at variable rates based on LIBOR. The group has also entered into interest rate swap agreements 10 manage its
exposure to changes in the fair value of certain debt obligations due to interest rate fluctuations. The interest
rate swaps allow the group to receive or pay interest based on six month LIBOR or fixed rates in exchange for
payments or receipts of interest at six month LIBOR or fixed rates.

The terms of the group’s outstanding interest rate swap contracts at 3| December 2019 were as follows:

Final maturity

date of hedge Hedge type Pay fixed rate Receive fixed rate

Weighted Weighted

Notional average Notional average
million remaining life million remaining life

January 2020 - January 2025 Not designated €1.1145 21 €714.7 4.2
January 2025 Not designated - $354.5 3.0
January 2020 - May 2027 ~Not designated £15.352.9 2.7 £7,202.1 1.7
January 2021 Fair value - - £628.4 .0

The notional ameunts of multiple derivative instruments that mature within the same calendar month are shown
in aggregate.

Interest rate swaptions
The group has entered into various interest rate swap options {swaptions). which give the right, but no

obligation, to enter into certain interest rate swap contracts at set dates in the future, with each such contract
having a life of no more than three years. At the transaction date, the strike rate of each of these contacts was

above the corresponding market rate.

The terms of outstanding, interest rate swap option contracts at 31 December 2019 were as follows:

Notional Weighted

amount Underlying average option

due from swap expiration

Final maturity date Hedge type counterparty currency period
million

October 2022 - January 2026  Not designated £5.3424 £ 1.0

January 2023 - January 2025 Not designated £364.0 € 0.6

Basis Swaps

The terms of outstanding basis swap contracts at 3| December 2019 were as follows:

Notionat Notional Weighted

amount amount average

due from due to remaining

Final maturity date Hedge type counterparty  counterparty life
million million

July 2020 Not designated £900.0 £900.0 0.3

July 2020 Not designated $3,300.0 $£3.300.0 0.5
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Foreign currency forward options and forward contracts

The group has entered into external foreign currency forward options and foreign currency forward contracts in
order to manage foreign currency exposure risk with respect to Indian rupee (INR).

Foreign currency forward options
The following foreign currency forward options with a third party were in place at 31 December 2019

Exchange currency Notionzl amount

million
Indian rupee £3.5
Foreign currency forward contracts
The following foreign currency forward contracts with a related party were in place at 31 December 2019:
Maturity dates Currency purchase forward Currency sold forward
milllion milllion
January 2020 - June 2020 $10.0 £7.9

Cash flow hedges

The group has elected not w designate derivative instruments as accounting hedges. although these remain
economic hedges. The group has recognised effective portion of gains on ltosses in the unrealised gains and
lusses in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income as result of historic derivative instruments that were
designated as cash flow hedges and hedges of commercial operational contracts,

C hanges in the Fair values of derivative instruments are recorded as gains or Insses an derivative instruments in
the Group Income Statement in the period in which they occur. The following table presents movements in
Other Comprehensive Income related to cash flow hedges for the year ended 31 December 2019:

Cross
currency
mterest rate
Total Swaps Tax effect
£ million £ million £ million
Balance at 31 December 2018 5.3 (15.0) 209
Amounts recognised in Statement of
(omprehensive income reclassified to earnings 34 54 -
Balance at 31 December 20{9 10.7 (10.2) 209

[ncluded within amounts reclassified to carnings is £5.1 million of net losses that have been recycled from the
cash flow hedge reserve through the income statement in respect of swaps for which either designation was
revoked, or the hedged instrument was settled as part of refinancing activities.

Fair value hedges
For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as fair value accounting hedges. the gain or loss on

derivatives is recognised in the Group Income Statement in the period in which they occur. together with any
changes in the fair value of the hedged debt obligations due to changes in the hedged risks.
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Financial Instruments (continued)
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Set cut below is a comparison by category of carrving values and fair values of the group's financial assets and
financial habilities. where different, as at 3| December:

2019 2019 2018 2018
Carrying value Fair value Carrying value Fair value
£ million £ million £ million £ million

Senior credit facility (3.998.4) t4,126.8) (3,539.8) (3.609.4)
5.25% UL.S. dollar senior notes due 2022 (389 {39.7) (49.7) {49.6)
+4.875% LS. dollar sentor notes due 2022 {(34.1) (55.00 {38.5) (37.6}
5.125%0 pound sterling senior notes due 2022 (44.2) (44.0) {+4.3) (44.1)
6.375% pound sterling senior notes due 2024 - - (29844} (302.3%
6% U.S. doHar senior notes due 2024 (372.6) (387.3) {387.3) (377.1)
4.3% euro senior notes due 2025 (386.7) (400.7} (409.9} (409.7}
5.75% LS. dollor senior notes due 2023 (291,41 (302.5) (310.7) (296.2)
3.50% pound sterling senior secured notes due 202 | - - (106.9) (1137
5.23% U.S. dollar senior secured notes dug 2021 - - {354.6} (348.0)
5.5% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2023 - - {385.8) (386.0
3.5% L.S. dollar senior notes due 2025 - - {277.3) (274.2)
5.125% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2025 - - (298.0) (298.4)
6.0% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2023 (539.9) 15375.6) (532.7) (579.4)
5.25% U.S, dollar senior secured notes due 2026 - - 1786.0) (723.0)
3.3% U.S. dollar senior secured notes due 2026 (561.7) (395.9) (383.9) (349.0}
4.875% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2027 (523.6) (3499 (523.4) (494.8)
3.0% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2027 (672.1) (717.6} (671.6) (639.3}
6.25% pound sterling senior secured notes duc 2029 (360.7) (385.3) (400.83 (402.9)
5.50% .S dollar senior secured notes due 2029 {1,077.3) {1,142, - -

5.25% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2029 (340.1) (363.9) - -

4.25% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2030 (396.4) (408 .5 - -

The carrying values of amounts not listed above approximate their fair values.

The group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by
valuation technique:

Level I Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities; or
Inadjusted quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active; or
[nputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability.

Level 3 Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The group cndcavours to utilise the best available information in measuring fair value. Financial assets and

liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement.

6l



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

21

22

Financial Instruments (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the fair value of the financial instruments held by the group is as follows:

Level 1 Levet 2 Level 3 Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million
Financial assets at fair value

Cash, short term deposits and restricted cash 539 - 359
Cross-currency interest rate swaps - 383.6 - 3836
Interest rate swaps - 127. - 127.7
35.9 S13.3 - 569.2

Financial liabilities at fair value
Senior credit facility 4.126.8 - - +.126.8
Senior notes 1.229.2 - - 12292
Senior secured notes 2.8243 - - 28243
Cross-currency interest rate swaps - 168.8 - 168.8
Interest rate swaps - 348.4 18.7 367.1
Foreign currency forward rate contracts - .5 - 0.5
8.180.3 5177 18.7 8.716.7

In estimating the fair value of other financial instruments. the group used the following methods and
assumptions:

Cash and short term deposits. and restricted cash: The carrying amounts reported in the Group Balance Sheet
approximate fair value due to the short maturity and nature of these financial instruments.

Derivative finuncicad instruments  As a result of the group's financing activities. it is exposed to market risks
from changes in interest and foreign currency exchange rates. which may adversely atfect its operating results
and financial position. When deemed appropriaie. the group minimises 1isks fiom interest and foreign currency
exchange rate fluctuations through the use of derivative tinancial instruments. The foreign currency forward
rate contracts. interest rate swaps {excluding swaptions) and cross-currengy interest rate swaps are valued using
broker quotations, or market transactions in either the listed or over-the counter markets. adjusted for non-
performance risk. As such, these derivative instruments are classified within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
Due to the lack of Level 2 inputs for the swaption valuations, the group believe these valuations fall under
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Senior notes, senior secured notes and credit faciliny: The fair values of the senior credit facility. senior notes
and senior secured notes in the above table are based on the quoted market prices in active markets for the
underlying third party debt and incorporate non-performance risk. Accordingly. the inputs used to value the
senior notes and senjor secured notes are classitied within level 1 of the fair vatue hierarchy.

During the year, there were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3.

Fquity share capital

219 2018
£ 000 £000
Aeonted, called wp and fully paid,
76,184 {2018 - 76.184) ordinary shares of £l each 76 76
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The group’s employees are entitled to partake in Liberty Global pic share-based schemes. These share schemes
consist of stock options and performance plans including stock appreciation rights (“SARs™). performance-
based share appreciation rights ("PSARs™). restricted stock. restricted stock units ("RSUs™) and performance
share units ("PSUs™). The schemes provide share based compensation to individuals under the conditions
describe below. The grant date fair values for options. share appreciation rights (SARs) and performance-based
share appreciation rights (PSARs) are estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, and the grant
date fair values for restricted share units {RSUs} and performance-based restricted share units (PSUs) are based
upon the closing share price of Liberty Global ordinary shares on the date of grant. We calculate the expected
life of options and SARs granted by Liberty Global to employees based on histarical exercise trends. The
arrangements are equity settled with the employees. Liberty Global recharges the group for share schemes made
available 1o the group emplovees.

Full detailed information on the group’s share based payments are disclosed in the financial statements of
Virgin Media Inc. which are available on Liberty Global's website at www _libertyglobal.com.

The income statement charge for share based payments for the vear was £45.1 million (2018: £27.2 million}.

Liberty Global Share Incentive Plans

As of December 31, 2019, we are authorised 1o grant incentive awards under the Liberty Global 2014 Incentive
Plan and the Liberty Global 2014 Nonemployee Director Incentive Plan. Generally, we may grant non-qualified
share options, SARs, PSARs, restricted shares, RSUs, cash awards, performance awards or any combination of
the foregoing under either of these incentive plans (collectively, awards), Ordinary shares issuable pursuant to
awards made under these incentive plans will be made available from either authorized but unissued shares or
shares that have been issued but reacquired by our company. Awards may be granted at or above fair value in
any ¢lass of ordinary shares. The maximum number of [.iberty Global shares with respect to which awards may
be issued under the Liberty Global 2014 [ncentive Plan and the Liberty Global 2014 Nonemployee Director
Incentive Plan is 155 millien (of which no more than 50.25 million shares may consist of Class B ordinary
shares) and 0.5 million, respectively. in each case. subject to anti-dilution and other adjustment provisions in
the respective plan. As of December 31, 2019, the Liberty Global 2014 Incentive Plan and the Liberty Global
2014 Nonemployee Director Incentive Plan had 71.262.640 and 8.652,029 ordinary shares available for grant.
respectively.

Awards {other than performance-based awards) under the Liberty Global 2014 [ncentive Plan generally (i) vest
12.5% on the six month anniversary of the grant date and then vest at a rate of 6.25% each quarter thereafter
and (i) expire seven years after the grant date. Awards (other than RSUs} issued under the Liberty Gicbal 2014
Nonemployee Director Incentive Plan generally vest in three equal annual instalments, provided the director
continues to serve as director immediately prior to the vesting date, and expire seven years after the grant date.
RSUs vest on the date of the first annual general meeting of shareholders following the grant date. These
awards may be granted at or above fair value in any class of ordinary shares.

Liberty Global Performance Awards

The following is a summary of the material terms and conditions with respect to Liberty Global's performance-
based awards for certain executive officers and key employees for which awards were granted under the Liberty
Global Incentive Plan and the Virgin Media Incentive Plan.

Libern: Global PSTs

In March 2015, Liberty Global's compensation committee approved the grant of PSUs to executive officers and
key emplovees (the 20135 PSUs}. The performance plan for the 2015 PSUs covered a two-year period ending 31
December 2016 and included a performance target based on the achievement of a specified compound annual
growth rate (CAGR) in a consolidated operating cash flow metric (as defined in the applicable underlying
agreement). The performance target was adjusted for events such as acquisitions. dispositions and changes in
foreign currency exchange rates that affect comparability (OCF CAGR), and the participant’s annual
performance ratings during the two-year performance pertod. Participants earned 99.5% of their targeted
awards under the 2015 PSUs, which vested 30%0 on each of | April 2017 and | October 2017,
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Share-based payments (continued)

In tebruary 2016, Liberty Global’s compensation committee approved the grant of PSUs to executive officers
and key employees (the 2016 PSUs) pursuant to a performance pian that is based on the achievement of a
specified OCF CAGR during the three-year period ending December 31, 2018, The 2016 PSUs require delivery
of a compound annual growth rate of our consolidated OCF CAGR of 6.0% during the three-year performance
period, with over- and under-performance payout opportunities should the OCF CAGR exceed or fail to meet
the target, as applicable. The performance payout may be adjusted at the compensation committee’s discretion
for events that may affect comparability, such as changes in foreign currency exchange rates and accounting
principles or policies. The 2016 PSUs will vest 30% on each of | April 2019 and 1 October 2019, During 2018.
the compensation committee of Liberty Global's board of directors approved the grant of PSUs to executive
officers and key employees (the 2018 PSUs) pursuant to a performance plan that is based on the achievement of
a specified Adjusted O[BDA CAGR during the two-year period ending 31 December 2019. The 2018 PSUs
include over- and under performance payout opportunities should the Adjusted OIBDA CAGR exceed or fail to
meet the target. as applicable. A performance range of 50% to 125% of the target Adjusted OIBDA CAGR will
generally result in award recipients earning 30% to 1350°6 of their target 2018 PSUs, subject to reduction or
forfeiture based on individual performance. The earned 2018 PSUs will vest 50% on | April 2020 and 50% on
I October 2020. The target Adjusted OIBDA CAGR for the 2018 PSUs was determined on 26 October 2018
and, accordingly. associated compensation expense has been recognised prospectively trom that date.

Libern Global Challenge Performance Iwards

Effective 24 June 2013, Liberry Global's compensation committee approved the Challenge Performance
Awards, which consisted solely of PSARs for Liberty Global's senior executive officers and a combination of
PSARs and PSUs for other executive otficers and key employees. Each PSL represented the right to receive
one Liberty Globat or LILAC Class A or Class C ordinary share. as applicable. The performance criteria for the
Challenge Performance Awards was based on the participant’s performance and achievement ot individual
goals in each of the vears 2013, 2014 and 20135, As a result of satisfying pertormance conditions, 100% of the
then ocutstanding Challenge Performance Awards vested and became fully excrcisable on 24 June 2016. The
PSARs have a term of seven years and base prices equal to the respective market closing prices of the
applicable class on the grant date.

Virgn Media Stock (ncentive Plany

Equity awards were granted to certain of the group’s employees, prior to Liberty Global's acquisition of Virgin
Media in June 2013, under certain incentive plans maintained and administered by the group and no new grants
will be made under these incentive plans. The equity awards granted include stock options. restricted shares,
RSUs and performance awards. Awards under the VM| Incentive Plan have a 10-year term and become fully
exercisable within five years of continued employment.

Reserves

Lquity share capital
The batance classified as share capital represents the neminal value on issue of the company's equity share
capital. comprising £1 ordinary shares.

Share premium uccount
Share premium represents the amount of consideration received for the company's equity share capital in excess
of the nominal value of shares issued.

Treasury share rescrve
The treasury share reserve was created in 2014 and subsequently cancelled in 2018 as a result of group wide
restructures involving the company and fellow Virgin Nedia group companies.

(eher capital reserves comprising merger reserve and capiwld contributions
The results of subsidiary undertakings acquired through group reorgamisations have given rise to the
requirement to make adjustments on consclidation in the merger reserve.

Unrealised gains and {osses
This reserve records the portion of gain or loss on hedging instruments that are determined to be effective
hedges. and the exchange differences on retransiation of foreign operations,

64



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the vear ended 31 December 2019

24

26

27

Reserves (continued)
Fureign currency translation reserve
This reserve records the gain or loss on the retranslation of subsidiary undertakings with functional currencies

other than pound sterling.

Retuined earningy
This reserve recoerds all current and prior period retained profit and tosses.

Capital commitments

2019 2018

£ million £ million

Amounts contracted for but not provided in the accounts 331.7 314.3
Contingencies

On 19 March 2014, the UK government announced a change in legislation with respect to the charging of VAT
in connection with prompt payment discounts such as those that the group offer to fixed-tine telephony
customers. This change, which took effect on 1 AMay 2014, impacted the group and some of its competitors. The
UK tax authority issued a decision in the fourth quarter of 2015 challenging the group’s application of the
prompt payment discount rules prior to the | May 2014 change in legislation. The group appealed this decision.
As part of the appeal process, the group were required to make aggregate payments of £67.0 million,
comprising of the challenged amount of £63.7 million (which the group paid during the fourth quarter of 201 3)
and related interest of £3.3 million (which the group paid during the first quarter of 2016}. No provision was
recorded by the group at that time as the likelihood of loss was not considered to be probable. The aggregate
amount paid does not include penalties, which couid be significant in the event that penalties were to be
assessed. In September 2018, the court rejected the group’s appeal and ruied in favour of the UK tax authority.
Accordingly. during the third quarter of 2018, the group recorded a provision for litigation of £63.7 million and
related interest expense of £3.3 million in the group’s income statement. The First Tier Tribunal gave
permission to appeal to the Upper Tribunal and the group submitted grounds for appeal on 22 February 2019,

In April 2020, the Upper Tribunal rejected our appeal, rufing in favour of HMRC. The Group is currently
seeking permission to appeal to the Court of Appeal: however. no assurance can be given as to the ultimate

cutcome of this matter.

Pension and other post-retirement benefits

The group operates two defined benefit schemes in the UK, the NTL Pension Plan and the 1999 ntl Pension
Scheme, and one defined benefit scheme in [reland, Virgin Media [reland Limited Defined Benefit Plan. which
provide both pensions in retirement and death benefits to members. Pension benefits are related to the members’
final salary at retirement and their length of service.

Defined contribution plans
The group contributes to the Virgin Media sponsored group personal pension plans of eligible employees.
Contributions are charged to the Group [ncome Statemnent as they become payable, in accordance with the rules

of the plans.

Contributions to the defined contribution plans during the period were £27.6 million (2018 - £24.5 million).
The amount of outstanding contributions at 31 December 2019 included within current liabilities was £4.1
million (2018 - £3.6 mitlion).

65



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the yvear ended 31 December 2019

27 Pension and other post-retirement benefits (continued)

Defined benefit plans
The group recognises any actuarial gains and losses in each period in the Group Statement of Comprehensive
Income.

* 1999 ntl Pension Scheme

A subsidiary, Virgin Media Limited. operates a funded pension plan providing defined benefits (~1999 ntl
Pensicn Plan™). The plan has never been opened to new entrants except when the plan began and subsequently
on 31 May 2007, on both occasions new members were transferred From other existing plans. The Plan was
closed to future accrual on 31 January 2014, The assets of the plan are held separately from those of the
company, being invested in units of exempt unit trusts. The plan is funded by the payment of contributions to
separately administered trust funds. The pension costs are determined with the advice of independent qualified
actuaries on the basis oftriennial valuations using the projected unit credit method.

* NTL Pension Plan

A subsidiary. Virgin Media Limited. operates a funded pension pian providing defined benefits ("NTL Pension
Plan™). The pension plan was closed to new entrants as of 6 April 1998, The Plan was closed to future accrual
on 31 January 2014, The assets of the plan are held separately from those of the company. in an independently
administered trust. The plan (s funded by the payment of contributions to this separately administerad trust.
The pension costs are determined with the advice of independent qualified actuaries on the basis of triennial
valuations using the projected unit credit method.

« Virgin Media Ireland Limited Defined Benefit Plan

A subsidiary. Virgin Media [reland Limited. operates a funded pension plan providing detined benefits (~Virgin
Media Ireland Limited Defined Benefit Plan™ previously called the “UPC Communications treland Limited
Defined Benefit Plan™). The Plan was closed to future accrual on 31 July 2013, The assets of the plan are held
separately from those of the company, in an independently administered trust. The plan is funded by the
payment of contributions to this separately administered trust. The pension costs are determined with the advice
of independent qualified actuaries on the basis of triennial valuations using the projected unit credit method.

The plans’ assets are measured at tair value. The plans’ hiabifities are measured using the projected unit method
and discounted at the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond.

The table below provides summary information on the group’s defined benefit plans:

2019 2018
£ million £ million

Projected benefit obligation (617.0) (363.1)
Fair value of plan assets 695.3 645.0
Net asset 78.5 81.9
Net periodic pension cost 0.9 2.2
Net defined benefit asset represented by:
Net defined benefit liability (7.5 (17.8)
INet defined benefit asset go.4 89.7

78.5 81.9
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Movements in the defined benefit assets and liabilities are as follows:

Defined benefit obligation Fair value of plan assets Net dehined benefit (frability Jasset
2019 2018 2819 2018 29 28
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ midlinn
LK Ireland Uk Ireland VK reland VK lreland tK Ireland LK Ireland
Batance at 1 Janvary 133001 (33 1) (XY Xy 347 alvy 7 231 RCE] 233 897 17 8 046 93
Included in income statement
Current Admin, service cost . - - ) . ol 1y - il e - ol 1 -
Past service cost - - 27 - - - - 127 -
[nterest teostp g eme (146} Wy 1 13e 7T 171 03 157 0= 24 (02 18 (2
Included in OC1
Actuanal Cosskgain ansing from
Changes n demographie
gt I emegmphie War - 33 . . . - n) - 330 .
ASSUMPLOINS
Changes in financial assumptions el 3 (4 364 06 - - - IGUET] 49 363 06
[xperencg adjustaents w7 02 {43 fet - - - 07 n2 1453 11
Retuen on plan assets excluding -
LT 6 plan assets excluding - ; ; ; 538 2% SR 05 Sy R SEEE SRR
Interest meome
(ther
Contributions paid by the
ontributions pard by the ] ) ] 6o L7 127 |7 0o 17 o2 17
employer
I ffects of movements in -\.'xs:hungu 19 i Y e . 0 A 03 ) Wl
rates
Benetils pad Mo a6 212 P2 1224y e 212y (L) 1G] - -
Balance at 31 December (581.0) (36,0} (530.) (33.1) 667.4 28.1 6197 253 86.4 (7.9) 847 {7.8)

1999 ntl Pension Scheme and NTL Pension Plan have been disclosed within the “UK™ figures.

Virgin Media lreland [Limited Defined Benefit Plan is shown within the “lreland™ figures.

The group’s pension plan weighted-average asset allocations by asset category at 31 December 2019 and 31

December 2018 were as follows:

2019 Ireland
UK long long term
term rate rate of
of return UK total return Ireland total
£ million £ million
Equities 5.3% 81.7 2.2% 10.8
Property 5.3% 23 - -
Corporate bonds 2.0% 196.7 2.2% 13.2
Government bonds 1.3% 69.0 - -
Hedge funds +4.8% 89.2 - -
Insurance policy (buy-tn) 2.00% 182.3 - -
Cash and other 1.3% 16.0 2.29% 4.1
Total market value of assets N 6674 DT
Present value of plan liabilities {381.0y (36.0)
Net pension asset(liability) 86.4 (7.9)
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2018 Ireland
UK long long term
term rate rate of
of return UK total return [reland total
£ million £ million
Equities 3.8% 73.4 2.2% 9.8
Property 5.8% 3.0 - -
Corporate bonds 2.8% 33.4 2.2% 163
Government bonds |.8% 66.0 - -
Hedge funds 5.3% 2128 - -
Insurance policy (buy-in) 2.8% 171.0 - -
Cash and other |.8% 601 200, 4.2
Total market value of asscts 6197 253
Present value of plan liabilities (330.00 (33.1)
Net pension asset( liability ) §9.7 17.8)

The trustees of N'TL Pension Plan purchased an insurance contract that will pay an income siream to the plan
which is expected to match all future cash outflows in respect of certain Habilities. The fair value of this
insurance contract is presented as an asset of the plan and is measured based on the future cash flows to be
received under the contract discounted using the same discount rate used to measure the associated liabilities.

Actuarial assumptions .
The fullowing aie e principal actuarial assusiptivns at the copenting Jate (cxpressed a3 weighted averagesy:

2019 2018
UK  lIreland UK  Ireland
Discount rate 2.0% 1.2% 2.8%, 2.2%
Future salary increases 269, 0.0% 3.2% 0.0%

The assumption for future salary increases is no longer applicable for the Virgin Viedia lreland Limited Defined
Benefit Plan after 31 July 2015 as the Plan was closed to future accrual from this date and benelits are no longer
linked to salaries. Members of the UK pension schemes who remained employed by the group retain their
salary link for revalyation of their deferred benefits.

The assumptions relating to longevity underlying the pension liabilities at the balance sheet date are based on
standard actuarial mortality tables and include an allowance for future improvements in longevity. The
assumptions are equivalent to expecting a 60-year old to live for a number of years as follows:

UK
2019 2018
Current pensioner aged 60 {male) 27.3 272
Current pensioner aged 60 (female) 391 290
Future retiree upon reaching 60 (male) 28.8 28.7
Future retiree upon reaching 60 (female) 30.6 30.6
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28

The assumptions for the Virgin Media {reland Limited pension scheme are equivalent to expecting a 63-year
old to live for a number of vears as follows:

Ireland
2019 2018
Current pensioner aged 65 (male) 225 224
Current pensioner aged 65 (female) 243 243
Future retiree upon reaching 635 (male) 242 241
Future retiree upon reaching 65 (female) 26.2 26.1

Sensitivity analysis

The calcuiation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to the assumptions set out above. The following
table summarises how the impact on the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period would have
increased (decreased) as a result of a change in the respective assumptions by 0.23 percent.

2019 2018
UK Ireland UK Ireland
Discount rate (24.1) (L4 (22.0) (1.3)
[nflation 23 0.4 3 0.4

in valuing the assets of the UK pension fund at 31 December 2019, mortality assumptions have been made as
indicated above. If life expectancy had been changed to assume that all members of the fund lived for one vear
longer, the value of the reported labilities at 31 December 2019 would have increased by £26.2 million before
deferred tax for the UK pensions. Life expectancy sensitivity assessment has not been carried out on the [rish
pension scheme,

The above sensitivities are based on the average duration of the benefit obligation determined at the date of the
last full actuarial valuation at 31 December 2019 and are applied to adjust the defined benefit obligation at the
end of the reporting period for the assumptions concerned. Whilst the analysis does not take account of the fult
distribution of cash flows expected under the plan. it does provide an approximation to the sensitivity of the
assumptions shown.

Funding
The group expects to contribute £2 4 million to the defined benefit pension ptans in 2020.

Related party transactions
During the year. the group entered into transactions in the ordinary course of business with other related parties.

Transactions entered into during the year, and trading balances outstanding at 31 December with other related
parties, are as follows:

Services Interest Interest Amounts Amounts
rendered by charged to charged by owed by owed to
related related related related related
party party party party party
Related puarey £ million £ miltion £ million £ million £ million
Parent undertakings
2019 - - - - (32.2)
2018 - - - - (33.
I'ellow subsidian
undertakings
2019 - - - 1.6 -
2018 - - - - (3.7
Liberty Global group
undertakmgs
2019 (22354 2838 - 333 (48.9)
2018 (136.9) 3134 o) 16 .8 (639
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28 Related party transactions (continued)

larent underiakings

The group is hcaded by Virgin Media Inc. and has been indebted to the group. which receives interest income
according to the terms of each loan agreement. The group recharges the uitimate parent company for certain
costs directly attributed to the operations of that company including allocable payroll and related expenses.

Fellow subsidiary undertakings

The nct recovery of debts by Virgin Media Limited relating to the customers of fellow subsidiary undertakings.
namely Virgin Media Mobile Finance Limited. through centralised debt collection and treasury operations.
generates trading balances which are offset by operating expenses and capital purchases that are also recharged
by Virgin Media Limited. Virgin Media Limited is an indirect subsidiary of the company whilst Virgin Media
Mobile Finance Limited is outside the group headed by the company.

Liberty Group undertakings

The company's ultimate parent is Liberty Global ple which also controls the group and the Virgin Media group.
Certain debt raised by the group has been passed up to Liberty Global eatities that sit outside the Virgin Media
group. The debt of £4.926.4 million (see note 12) attracts interest which Liberty Global entities pay 1o the group
according to the terms of each loan arrangement.

{erms und conditions of transactions with relfated parties

The terms of the loans payable to parent undertakings are as outlined in note 18. Certain expenses are
specifically attributable to each company in the group. Where costs are incurred by Virgin Media Limited on
behalf of ather group companies. expenses are allocated to the other group companies on a basis that. in the
opinion of the directors. is reasonable.

Compensation of key management personnel {including directors)
The compensation paid or payable to key management for employee services is shown below:

2019 2018

£ million £ million

Short-term employee benefits 10.5 4.2
Post-employment benefits 0.1 -

Nen-gquity incentive plan 33 34

Share based pay ments 4.6 1.9

18.5 9.3

Key management represents directors and members of Virgin Media's Executive Committee.
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29 Principal subsidiary undertakings

The investments in which the group heid at least 20% of the nominal value of any class of share capital. all of
which are unlisted, are as follows. All are registered in England and Wales uniess otherwise noted.

Prapurtion
of
voling rights
and
ey . Principal
Subsidiary Holding  shares held '
: acliviies
Direct shareholdings of Virgin Media Finance PLC
Virgin Media Investment Holdings Limited Ordinary 100% Finance
Indirect shareholdings
NTL (Triangle) LLC = Common Stock 100%0 Holding
ntl Business Limited Ordinary 100% Telecoms
ntl CableComms Group Limited Ordinary 100%0 Holding
ntl Glasgow E Ordinary 56% ‘Telecoms
ntl Kirklees Ordinary 2% Telecoms
Virgin Media Business Limited Ordinany 100% Telecoms
Virgin Media Investments Limited Ordinary 100°%6 Finance
Virgin Media Ireland Limited b Ordinary 100%% Telecoms
Virgin Media Limited Ordinary 100% Telecoms
Virgin Media Payments Limited Ordinary 100% Collections
Virgin Media Senior Investments Limited Ordinary 100% Holding
Virgin Media Wholesale Limited Ordinary 100% Telecoms
Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited Ordinary 100% Telecoms
Indirect shareholdings - guaranteed under section 349 ( C ) of the Companies Act 2006
BCMV Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
Birmingham Cable Corporation Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
Birmingham Cable Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
Cable Londen Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
CableTet Herts and Beds Limited Ordinary 100%4 Dormant
CableTel Northern [reland Limited B Ordinary 1G0% Dormant
CableTel Surrey and Hampshire Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
Eurobell (Holdings} Limited Ordinary 100%¢ Holding
ntl {B) Limited Ordinary 10020 Helding
ntl {Broadland) Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
ntl (CWC) Corporation Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
ntl {South East) Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
ntl (V) Ordinary 100% Dormant
ntl CableComms Surrey Ordinary 100% Dormant
ntl Midlands Limited Ordinary 100%0 Dormant
ntl National Networks [.imited Ordinary 100%% Dormant
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29 Principal subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Indirect shareholdings - guaranteed under section 349 ( C ) of the Companies Act 2006 (continued)

Proportion
of
voting righty
and
Principal
Holding  shuares held raeipe
acivie s
Subviclivry
t
ntl Pension Trustees {1 Limited Ordinary 100% Corporate
v Trustee
. - . C t
ntl Pension Trustees Limited Ordinary 100" orporate
Trustee
ntt South Central Limited Ordinary 100°0 Dormant
ntl Telecom Services Limited Ordinary 100%0 Dormant
.o : Corporate
ntl I'rustees Limited Ordinary 100°%0 i
Trustee
Telewest Communications (Dundee & Perth) Lintited I Ordinary 100% Dormant
Telewest Communications {Glenrothes) Limited = Ordinary 100%e Dormant
T_clc.wesl Communications (Midlands and North West Ordinary 100%6 Dormant
Limited ’
Telewest Communications (North East) Limited Ordinary 100% Holding
Telewest Communications {Scotland) Limited T Crdinary 000 Dormant
Telewest Communications { South East) Limited Ordinary 100%0 Dormant
Telewest Communications { South West) Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
Pelewest Communications {Tyneside) Limited Ordinary 100% Holding
Telewest Communigations Cable Limited Ordinary 160" Durnant
Theseus No.1 Limited Ordinary 100 Holding
['hesceus No.2 Limited Ordinary 100%0 Holding
- . L . . Corporate
Virgin Media Employee Medical Trust Limited Ordinary 100% P
Trustec
Virgin Media PCHC 1l Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
Virgin Media PCHC Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
VM Transfers (No 43 Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
Yorkshire Cable Communications Limited Ordinary [00% Dormant

The company will issue a guarantee under Section 394 C) of the Companies Act 2006 for the year ended 31
December 20319 in respect of the wholly owned dormant subsidiaries listed above in section “Indirect
shareholdings - guaranteed under Section 394y of the Companies Act 20067, The company guarantees afl
outstanding liabilities to which the subsidiary company is subject 1o at 31 December 2019, until they are
satisfied in full and the guarantee is enforceable against the company by any person lo whom the subsidiary
company is liable in respect of those liabilities. These dormant subsidiaries have taken advantage of the
exemption from preparing individual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2019 by virtue of Section
394(A) of the Companies Act 2006.

The guarantee under Section 394(C) of the Companies Act 2006 is in respect of the above subsidiaries. the
majority of which are 100% owned. either directly or indirectly.
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29 Principal subsidiary undertakings {continued)

[ndirect shareholdings - puaranteed under section 479 { A ) of the Companies Act 2006

Proportion

of

voring rights

anef
Holding  shares held Prmf,‘t,-ml'
dctivites

Subsidiary

Bitbuzz UK Limited Ordinary 100% Telecoms
Cable on Demand Limited Ordinary 100°%a Dormant
Casey Cablevision Limited ¥ Ordinary 100°%0 Telecoms
Channel 6 Broadcasting Limited W Ordinary 100% Telecoms
Cullen Broadcasting Limited ¥ Ordinary 100%0 Telecoms
Diamond Cable Communications Limited Ordinary 100%%, Holding
Flextech Limited Ordinary 100%4 Dormant
General Cable Limited Ordinary 100%0 Holding
lish Media Limited ke Ordinary 100% Dormant
Matchco Limited Ordinary 76% Dormant
ntl {CWC) Limited Ordinary 100°%, Dormant
NTL CabteComms Group, LLC = Common stock 100% Dormant
ntl Communications Services Limited Ordinary 100%0 Holding
ntl Glasgow Holdings Limited u Ordinary 31% Holding
ntl Kirklees Holdings Limited u Ordinary 3% Holding
ntl Rectangle Limited Ordinary 100% Holding
P.B.N. Holdings b4 Ordinary 100% Holding
Telewest Communications Networks Limited Ordinary 100" Holding
Telewest Limited Ordinary 100" Holding
Tullamore Beta Limited ¥ Ordinary 10G% Holding
TV Three Enterprises Limited ¥ Ordinary 1303% Dormant
I'V Three Sales Limited ¥ Ordinary 100% Dormant
UPC Broadband [reland Limited ¥ Ordinary 100% Holding
Virgin Media Bristol LLC = Common stock 106% Finance
Virgin Media Finco Limited Ordinary 100%q Finance
Virgin Media Operations Limited Circdinary 100% Holding
Virgin Media Secretaries Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
Virgin Media Secured Finance PLC Ordinary 100% Finance
Virgin Media SFA Finance Limited Ordinary 100% Finance
Virgin Media Television Limited hd Ordinary 100%% Telecoms
Virgin Wiki Limited Ordinary 100)% 6 Telecoms
VM Ireland Group Limited Ordinary 100% Holding

All companies are registered at 300 Brook Drive, Reading. United Kingdom, RG2 6LiLI, unless otherwise noted

| South Gyle Crescent Lane. Edinburgh. EH12 9EG
231 Little Falls Drive. Wilmington, DE 19808. These entities are registered in the LISA.
15350 Wewatta Street, Suite 1000, Denver, CO 80202

below:

B Unit 3, Blackstaff Road. Kennedy Wayv Industrial Estate, Belfast. BT 9AP
¥ Macken House, 39/40 Mayor Street Upper. Dublin 1, D COW3

-

)
[
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30

31

Principal subsidiary undertakings (continued)

The company has issued a guarantee under Section 47%C) of the Companies Act 2006 for the year ended 31
December 2019 in respect of the subsidiaries listed above in section “Indirect shareholdings - guaranteed under
Section 479(C) of the Companies Act 20067, The company guarantees all outstanding liabilities 1o which the
subsidiary company s subject to at 31 December 2019, until thev are satisfied in full and the guarantee is
enforceable against the company by any person to whom the subsidiary company is liable in respect of those
liabilities. These active subsidiaries have 1aken advantage of the exemption from audit of individual accounts
for the vear ended 31 December 2019 by virtue of Sectiont 479(A) of the Companies Act 2006.

The guarantee under Section 479 C) of the Companies Act 2006 is in respect of the above subsidiaries, the
majority of which are 100% owned, either direcity or indirectly.

Parent undertaking and controlling party
The company's immediate parent undertaking is Virgin Media Communications Limited.

The smallest and largest group of which the company is a member and in to which the company’s accounts
were consolidated at 31 December 2019 are Virgin Media Inc. and Liberty Global ple. respectively.

The company's ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party at 31 December 2019 was Liberty Global ple.

Copies of the Virgin Media group accounts referred to above which include the resulis of the company are
available from the company secretary, Virgin Media, 300 Brook Drive, Reading. United Kingdom, RG2 6LI1L.

In addition copies of the consolidated L.iberty Global ple accounts are availabic on Liberty Global's website at
www liberty global .com ar trom the campany secretary, Liberty Global ple, Gritfin House, 16 1 Hammersmith
Road, London. United Kingdom W6 8BS,

Post Balance Sheet Events
COVID-19

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the recent cutbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus
(COVID-19} to be a global pandemic. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, emergency measures have been
imposed by governments worldwide, including travel restrictions, restrictions on social activity and the
shutdown of non-essential businesses.

These measures have adversely impacted the global economy, disrupted global suppiy chains and created
significant volatility and disruption of financial markets. While it is not currently possible to estimate the
duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic or the adverse economic impact resulting from the
preventative measures taken to contain or mitigate its outbreak, an extended period of global economic
disruption could have a material adverse impact on our business. financial condition and results of operations in
future periods.

Pending joint venture transaction

On 7 May 2020, Liberty Global entered into a Contribution Agreement with, among others, Telefonica, SA
(Telefonica). Pursuant to this agreement, Liberty Global and Telefonica agreed to form a 50:30 joint venture.
which will combine Virgin Media's operations in the UK with Telefonica’s mobile business in the UK to create
a nationwide integrated communications provider.

The completion of this transaction is subject to certain conditions, including competition clearance by the
applicable regulatory authorities. It is anticipated that the transaction will close around the middle of 2021, The
Contribution Agreement also includes customary termination rights. including a right of the parties te terminate
the agreement if the transaction has not closed within twenty -four months following the date of the agreement.
which may be extended by six months under certain circumstances.
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Post Balance Sheet Events (continued)

Financing transactions

In May 2020, Virgin Media Trade Receivables Financing ple. a third-party special purpose financing entity.
was created tor the purpose of facilitating the offering of certain notes. These notes are collateralised by certain
trade receivabies of Virgin Media. creating a variable interest in which Virgin Media is the primary beneficiary
and, accordingly. Virgin Media, and ultimately Liberty Global, are required to consolidate Virgin Media Trade
Receivables Financing plc. The offering of these notes resulted in net proceeds of £214.3 million.

tn June 2020, Virgin Media completed various financing transactions. as further described below.

Senior notes transactions

The group issued 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $675 million. The net proceeds. together with the
May 2020 proceeds were used to redeem tn full €460 million and $388.7 million outstanding principal amount
of 2023 senior notes.

The group issued an additional 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $250 million €3G0 million. The net
proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used (1} to redeem in full $497 miilion outstandirg principal
amounts of existing 2024 senior notes and $123.1 million and £44.1 million outstanding principal amounts of
existing 2022 senior notes and (2) for general corporate purpeses.

The new secured notes rank pari-passu with the group’s existing secured notes and subject to certain exceptions,
share in the same guarantees and security granted in favour of its existing secured notes.

Senior secured notes transactions

The group issued 2030 senior secured notes with principal amounts of $6350 million and £450 million. The net
proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used (1) to redeem in full £325 million outstanding principal
amounts of existing 2027 senior secured notes. (2 to redeem tn full £360 miilion outstanding principal amounts
of existing 2029 senior secured netes, (3) £80.0 million of the £521.3 million outstanding principal amount of

existing 2025 senior secured notes.

1 he new senior secured notes rank pari-passu with the group's existing senior secured notes and senior secured
credit facility, and subject to certain exceptions. share in the same guarantees and security granted in favour of
its existing senior secured notes.

¥endor financing notes transactions

Virgin Media Vendor Financing Notes NI Designated Activity Company (Virgin Media Financing [I1
Company} and Virgin Media Vendor Financing Notes |V Designated Activity Company (Virgin Media
Financing 1V Company, and together with Virgin Media Financing {Il Company, the 2020 V& Financing
Companies) were created for the purpose of issuing certain vendor financing notes. The 2020 VM Financing
Companies are third-party special purpose financing entities that are not consolidated by Virgin Media or
lLiberty Global.

Virgin Media Financing {11 Company issued vendor financing notes with principal amounts of £300 million and
£400 million. Virgin Media Financing 1V Company issued vendor financing notes with principal amounts of
$300 million. The net proceeds from the June 2020 Vendor Financing Noetes were used by the 2620 VM
Financing Companies to purchase certain vendor-financed receivables of Virgin Media and its subsidiaries from
previously-existing third-party special purpose tinancing entities {the Original VM Financing Companies) and
various other third parties.
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Notes 2019 2018
£ million £ million

Fived assets
Investmenis 3 4,699.4 4.699 4
Current assets
Debtors due after one year 6 2.000.0 2.650.3
Debtors due within one year 6 33.9 35.7
Cash at bank and in hand 1.4 _

20353 2,706.0
Creditors: amounts falling due within one vear 7 {(329.3) (410.6)
Net current assets 1.705.8 2.295.4
Total assets less current liabilities 6,403.2 6,994.8
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one
year 3 (9.013.3) (9.177.0)
Net liabilities {2.608.3) (2.182.1)
Capital and reserves
Share capital 10 0.1 0.1
Share premium account I 625.9 6259
Capital contribution I 3.0 3.0
Accumulated losses 11 (3.230.%) (2,813.2)
Shareholders' deficit (2.608.3) i2.1822)

The notes on pages 78 to 87 form part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its behalt an
28 September 2020.

TR

R G McNeil
Director

Company Registration Number: 05061787
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Share Treasury Profit
Share premium Capital shares and loss
capital account coutribution reserve account Total

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
At 1 January 2019 0.1 623.9 3.0 - (2,813.2) (2.182.2)

Comprehensive income for the vear
Loss for the year - - - - {426.1) (426.1)

As at December 2019 0.1 625.9 5.0 - (3.239.3) {2.608.3)

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Share Treasury Profit
Share premium  Capital shares and loss
capital account contribution reserve account Total

£ million £million £ million £ million £ million £ million

At | January 2018 .1 33232 5.0 {2.880.2) (2,317.6y (1,869.3)

Comprehensive income for the year

Loss for the year - - - - (495.6) (495.6)
Shares issued during the year - 182.9 - 182.9
Shares cancelled during the year - (2,880.2) - 2.880.2 - 0.0
Total transactions with owners - (2.697.3) - 2.880.2 - 182.9
As at December 2018 0.1 625.9 5.0 - (2,813.2) (2,182

The notes on pages 78 o 87 form part of these financial statements.
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1 Company information

Virgin Media Finance PLC (the “company™) is a private company incorporated. domiciled and registered in the
UK The registered number is 05061787 and the repistered address is 300 Brook Drive. Reading. United Kingdom,
RG2Z 6UUL

2 Accounting policies

A summary of the principal accounting policies is set cut helow. All accounting pulicies have been applied
consistently. unless noted below.

2.1 Basis of accounting

These financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis and under the historical cost basis in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and the Financial Reperting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework ¢"FRS 101™).

[n preparing these financial statements. the company applies the recognitton. measurement and disclosure
requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EL {~Adopted IFRSs”). but makes
amendments where nccessary in order to comply with Companies Act 2006 and has set out below where
advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

The company’s ultimate parent undertaking. Liberty Global ple, includes the company in its consolidated financial
statements. The consolidated financial statements of Liberty Global ple are prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards and are available to the public and may be obtained from Liberty
Global’s website at www libertyglobal.com.

In these financial statements. the company has applied the exemptions avaitable under FRS 101 in respect of the
foliowing disclosures. where required cquivalent disclosures are included within the company’s consolidated
tinancial staterments:

+ acash flow staternent and related notes;

» disclosures in respect of related party transactions with fellow group undertakings:

» disclosures in respect of capital management;

e the effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs;

+ disclosures in respect of the compensation of key management personnel: and

* disclosures of transactions with 4 management entity that provides key management personnel services to

the company.

As the consolidated financial statements of the company include the equivalent disclosures, the company has
also taken the exemptions under FRS 101 available in respect of the following disclosures:

» IFRS 2 Share Based Payments in respect of group settled share based payments; and
» certain disclosures required by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement and the disclosures required by IFRS 7
Financial Instrument Disclosures.

Neo profit and loss account is presented by the company as permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006,

2.2 Going concern

The financial statements have been approved on the basis that the company remains a going concern. The following
paragraphs summarise the basis on which the directors have reached their conclusion.

itis Virgin Media’s practice for operational and financial management to be undertaken at a group level rather than
for individual entities that are wholly owned by the group. Treasury operations and cash management for ail of
L.iberry Global's wholly owned subsidiaries are managed on a Liberty Global group basis. As part of normal
business practice, regular cash flow forecasts tor both short and long term commitments are undertaken at group
level.
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2 Accounting policies (continued)

2.2 Going concern {continued)

Forecasts and projections prepared for the Virgin Media group as a whole. indicate that cash on hand. together with
cash from operations, repayment of amounts due 10 Virgin Media from the Liberty Global group and undrawn
revolving credit facilities. are expected to be sufficient for the Virgin Media group's and hence the company s cash
requirements through to at least [2 months from the approval of these financial statements.

Whilst the detailed cash flow forecasts are prepared at the group level, the directors have also assessed the position
of the company. Notwithstanding net liabilities of £2,608.3 mtllion as at 31 December 2019 and a loss for the year
end of £426.1 million. this assessment indicates that. taking account of reasonably possible downsides. the company
will have sufficient resources, through funding from fellow subsidiary companies to meet its liabilities as they fall
due for that period. Virgin Media [nc has indicated its intention to continue to make such hinds available to the
company as are needed.

As with any company placing reliance on cther group entities for financial support. the directors acknowiedge that
there can be no certainty that this support will continue although. at the date of approval of these financial
statements, they have no reason to believe that it will not do so. Consequently, the directors are confident that the
company will have sufficient funds to continue to meet its liabilities as they fall due for at least |2 months from the
date of approval of the financial statements and have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.
Consideration of the potential impact of COVID-19 has not altered this conclusion.

2.3 Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
The resulting exchange differences are taken to the profit and loss account.

2.4 Interest bearing loans and horrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. Afier initial
recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Gains and losses arising on the repurchase, settlement or otherwise cancellation of liabilitics are recogaised
respectively in finance income and finance costs.

Finance costs which are incurred in connection with the issuance of debt are deferred and set off against the
borrowings to which they relate. Deferred finance costs are amortised over the term of the related debt using the
effective interest method.

2.5 Investments

Investments are recorded at cost. less provision for impairment as appropriate. The company assesses at each
reporting date whether there is an indication that an investment may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the
company makes an estirate of the investment's recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an investment
exceeds its recoverable amount, the investment is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable
amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there was an event not foreseen in the original
impairment calculations, such as a change in use of the investment or a change in economic conditions. The
reversal of impairment loss would be to the extent of the lower of the recoverable amount and the carrying amount
that would have been determined had ne impairment loss been recognised for the investment in pricr vears.

2.6 Derivative financial instruments and hedging

The group has established policies and procedures to govern the management of its exposure to interest rate and
foreign currency exchange rate risks. through the use of derivative financial instruments. including interest rate
swaps. cross-currency interest rate swaps and foreign currency forward rate contracts.

Derivative {inancial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value at each balance sheet date.
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Derivatives are recognised as financial asscts when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is
negative.

2 Accounting policies {continued)
2.6 Derivative financial instruments and hedging (continued)

The foreign currency forward rate contracts. interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps are valued
using internal models based on observable inputs, counterparty valuations or market transactions in either the listed
or over-the-counter markets, adjusted for non-performance risk. Non-performance risk is based upon quoted credit
default spreads for counterparties to the contracts and swaps. Derivative contracts which are subject to master
netting arrangements are not offset and have not provided. nor require, cash collateral with any counterparty.

While these instruments are subject to the risk of loss from changes in exchange rates and interest rates, these losses
would generally be offset by gains in the related exposures. Financial instruments are only used to hedge underlying
commercial exposures. The group does not enter into derivative f{inancial instruments for speculative trading
purposes, nor doeg it enter into derivative financial instruments with a level of complexity or with a risk that is
greater than the exposure to be managed.

For derivatives which are designated as hedges. the hedging relationship is documented at its inception. This
documentation identifies the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged
and how effectiveness will be measured throughout its duration. Such hedges are expected at inception to be highly
effective.

The group designates certain derivatives as either fair value hedges, when hedging exposure to variability in the fair
value of recognised assets or liabilities or Airm commitments, or as cashflow hedges. when hedging exposure to
variability in cash flows that are either attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or Lability
or a highly probable forecast transaction.

Derivatives that are not part of an effective hedging refationship, as set out in IFRS 9. must be classified as held for
trading and measured at fair value through protit or loss.

The weatment of gains and losses arising from revaluing derivatives designated as hedging instruments depends
upon the nature of the hedging relationship and are treated as tollows:

Cash flow hedges

For cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in
other comprehensive income, while the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts taken to other
comprehensive income are reclassified to the profit and loss account when the hedged transaction is recognised in
profit or foss. such as when a forecast sale or purchase occurs, in the same line of the profit and loss account as the
recognised hedged item. Where the hedged item is the cost of 2 non-tinancial asset or liability, the gains and losses
previously accumutated in equity are transferred to the initial measurement of the cost of the ron-financial asset or
ltabiliry.

If a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur. the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised
immediately in profit or {oss. [f the hedging instrument expires or is sold. terminated or exercised without
replacement or rollover, or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income remain in equity until the torecast transaction occurs and are reclassified to the profit and
loss account.

Fair value hedges

For fair value hedges, the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are recognised in profit or loss
immediately. together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are atiributable to the
hedged risk. The change in the fair value of the hedging instrument and the change in the hedged item attributable to
the hedged risk are recognised in the line of the profit and loss account refating to the hedged item.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold. terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its

designation as a hedge is revoked, then the fair value adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item arising
ftom the hedged risk is amortised to profit or loss from that date.
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3 Judgements in applying acconnting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the company’s accounting policies which are described above. management has not made
any critical judgements that have a significant etfect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. except
for:

Carrying value of investments

Investments are held at cost less any necessary provision for impairment. Where the impairment assessment did not
provide any indication of impairinent. no provision is required. [f any such indications exist. the carrying value of
an investment is written down to its recoverable amount.

Recoverability of intercompany debtors

Intercompany debtors are stated at their recoverable amount less any necessary provision. Recoverability of
intercompany debtors is assessed annually and a provision is recognised it any indications exist that the debtor is not
censidered recoverable.

Fair value meusurement of financial instrumenty

Management uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments (where active market
quotes are not available) and non-financial assets. This involves developing estimates and assumptions consistent
with how market participants would price the instrument.

Management bases its assumptions on observable data as far as possible but this is not always available. [n that case
management uscs the best inlormation available. Estimated fair values may vary from the actual prices that would
be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date {see note 9).

4 Loss attributable to members of the parent company
The loss in the accounts of the parent company was £426.1 million (2018: loss of £493.6 million).

5 investments

£ million
Cost and net book value:
At 1 January 2016 1.699.4
At 31 December 2019 16994
Net book value:
At 31 December 2019 16994
At 31 December 2018 4,699 4

Details of the principal investments in which the group or the company holds at least 20”o of the nominal value of
any class of share capital. all of which are unlisted. can be seen in note 29 to the conseiidated financial statements.

ln the opinion of the directors the aggregate value of the investments in subsidiary undertakings is not less than the
amount at which they are stated in the financial statements.
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6 Debtors
2019 2018
£ million £ million
Due after one year

Loan notes due from group undenakings 1.833.0 22778
Dertvative financial assets 167.0 3723
2.000.0 2.650.3

Due within one vear
Derivative financial assets 339 35.7
33.9 35.7

Amounts owed by group undertakings due after one year represent loan notes which had a carrving value of

£1.833.0 million (2018 - £2.227.8 million) at the balance sheet date. Loan notes are denominated in sterling.
bear interest of 4.89% (subject to adjustment) and mature in April 2026,

7 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

2019 2018

£ million £ million

Derivative financial liabilities 6.6 53
Interest on loan noies due to group undertakings 49.2 19.9
[nterest pavable on senior notes REN 286
Amounts owed to group undertakings 748 75.6
Loan notes due to group undertakings L 2810
329.5 410.6

Loan notes due to group undertakings due within one vear include loan notes which had a carrving value of
£175.8 million (2018 - £281.0 million) a1 the balance sheet date. [Loan notes are denominated in sterling and US

dollar, bear interest ranging from 1.32% to 7.33% and are repayable on demand.

Amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

8§ Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

2019 2018

£ million £ million

Loan notes due to group undertakings 7.786.7 7.608.4
Senior notes 1.187.3 1,558.7
Derivative financial liabilities 36.3 9.9
9,013.5 9.177.0

Loan notes due 1o group undertakings falling due after more than one year had a carrying value of £7.789.7
million (2018 - £7.608.4) at the balance sheet date. Loan notes are denominated in sterling and US dollar. bear
interest at 4.89% (subject to adjustment), and mature between April 2026 and January 2028
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8

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (continued)

Borrow ings are repay able as follows:

2019 2018
£ million £ million
Amounts falling due:
In more than two years but not more than five years 509.2 131.5
In more than five years 8.504.3 9.0253
9.013.3 9.177.0
Borrowings not wholly repayable within five years are as follows:
2019 2018
£ million £ million
Loan notes due to group undertakings 7.789.7 7.608.4
Senior notes 678.1 1,407.2
Derivatives labilities 36.5 99
§,304.3 9,025.5
Total borrowings comprise: 2019 2018
£ million £ million
5.25% LS. dellar senior notes due 2022 38.8 49.6
4.873% U.S. dolar senior notes due 2022 54.0 58.3
5.125% Sterling senior notes due 2622 44.1 441
6.00% U.S. dollar senior notes due 2024 3747 3900
6.375%0 Steriing dollar senior notes due 2024 - 300.0
3.73% US dollar senior notes due 2025 293.1 313.8
4.5% Euro senior notes due 2025 389.4 413.3
11941 1,569.1
Less issue costs (6.8) (1049
11873 1.558.7

Total senior notes

Financial instruments

The company has the following senior notes in issuc as at 31 December 2019:

1) 5.25% senior notes dug 13 February 2022 the principal amount at maturity is $51.5 million.

payable semi-annually on 15 February and 13 August commencing 15 August 2012,

2} 4.875% senior notes due 15 February 2022 — the principal amount at maturity is $71.6 million.
Ty P P >

payable semi-annually on |5 February and 15 August commencing |3 February 2013,

3) 3.125% senior notes due 15 February 2022 - the principal amount at maturity is £44.1 miilion.

payable semi-annually on |5 February and 15 August commencing 15 February 2013.

+4) 6.00% senior notes due 15 October 2024 - the principal amount at maturity is $497.0 million.

payable semi-annually on 15 April and 15 October commencing 13 April 2013,

5y 5.75% senior noted due 13 January 2025 - the principal amount at maturity is $388.7 millton.

payable semi-annually on 15 January and |3 July commencing |5 July 2015.

61 1.50% senior notes due 15 January 2023 - the principal amount at maturity is €460.0 million.

payable semi-annually on 13 January and |3 July commencing 15 July 2015,
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Creditors: amounts filling due after more than one year (continued)

Virgin Media Inc.. a parent company of the company, and all the intermediate holding companies. guarantee
the senior notes on a senior basis. Virgin Media [nvestment Holdings Limited, a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of the company, guarantees the sentor notes ¢n a senior subordinated basis and has no significant
assets of its own other than its investments in its subsidiaries. The company has given a full and unconditional
suarantee of all amounts payable under the terms of the Virgin Media group’s senior secured credit facility and
senior secured notes.

In June 2020, Virgin Media completed various financing transactions, see note 31 in the consolidated financial
statements.

Financial instruments

2019 2018
£ million £ million
Financial assets

Financiat assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 200.9 428.2
Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost 1.833.0 22778
20339 2.706.0

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at fair value through protit or loss (43.11 {154y
Financial liabilities measured at amortised ¢ost {9,299.9; (9.572.2)
(9,343.0) {9.587.6)

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss comprise interest rate swaps and cross currency
interest rate swaps.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise amounts owed by group undertakings.

Financial Jiabilities measured ar fair valye through profit or Joss comprise interest rate swaps and cross currency
interest rate swaps and certain other loans.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise senior secured notes net of issue costs. interest
payable on senior notes. amounts owed to group undertakings, accruals and deferred income.

Derivative financial instruments are designed to mitigate the risks experienced by the company. he company
has obligations in a combination of U.S. dollars and sterling at fixed and variable interest rates. As a result, the
company is exposed to variability in its cash tlows and earnings resulting from changes in foreign currency
exchange rates and interest rates.

The group’s objective in managing its exposure to interest rate and foreign currency exchange rates is to
decrease the volatility of it earnings and cash flows caused by changes in the underlying rates. The group has
established policies and procedures to govern these exposures and has entered into derivative financial
instruments including interest rate swaps. cross-currency interest swaps and foreign currency forward rate
contracts. [t is the group's policy not to enter into derivative financial instruments for speculative trading
purposes, nor to enter into derivative financial instruments with a level of complexity or with a risk that is
greater than the exposure to be managed. The amounts below include amounts relating to short term as well as
long term creditors.

Financial and operational risk management is undertaken as part of the group's operations as a whole. These are
considered in more detail in the consolidated financial statements of the group.

The derivative financial instruments held by the company are recorded at fair vaiue on the balance sheet in
accordance with IFRS 9 Financiai Instruments. The fair values of these derivative financial instruments are
valued using internal medels based on observable inputs, counterparty valuations. or market transactions in
either the listed or over-the counter markets. adjusted for non-performance rish.
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9  Financial instruments (continued)

Cross currency swap contracts

The company holds the following outstanding swap agreements with another company within the Virgin Media
group:

Final Hedge type Notional amount Notional amount Interest rate due  Interest rate due
maturity due to due from to counterparty from counterparty
date counterparty counterparty
000 000

Feb-22 Not designated $63.271 £44 462 5.3% 3.7%
Feb-22 Not designated 574310 £52.219 4.9% 3.4%
Qct-24 Not designated $ 497,000 £349.230 6.0% 4.3%
Jan-26 Not designated $3.400,000 £2.389,234 3.3% 3.9%

Interest rate swap contracts

The company holds the following outstanding swap agreements with ancther company within the Virgin Media
group:

Final Hedge type Notional amount Notional amount Interest rate due  I[nterest rate due
maturity due to due from te counterparty from counterparty
date counterparty counterparty

000 000
Jan-27 Not designated £400.000 £400,000 +4.29% +4.80%
Nowv-27 Not designated £500.000 £500.000 +4.29%, 4.83%

[0  Share capital

2319 2018
£ 000 £ 000
Aloted. called wp and fildly paid:
76,184 (2018: 76,184 ordinary shares of £1 each 76 76

11 Reserves
Share capital

The balance classified as share capital represents the nominal value on issue of the company's share capital.
comprising £ ordinary shares.

Shetre premium account

Share premium represents the amount of consideration received for the company’s share capital in excess of the
neminal value of shares issued.

Capital contribution

The £5 million capital contribution was received from Virgin Media Communications Limited as part of a
comprehensive group restructuring in 2006.
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12

13

Reserves {continued)
Treasury shares reserve

The treasury share reserve represented the amount of the company’s equity share capital together with share
premium held by VMFH Limited, which was a wholly owned subsidiary of Virgin Media Finance PLC. VMFH
Limited acquired 19.7% of the company's shares from Virgin Media Communications Limited on 29
December 2014, The company subsequently acquired 100° of the share capital of VMFH Limtted from Virgin
Media Communications Limited. During 2(18. as result of a group wide restructure. VMFH distributed its
shares in the company to the company which were subsequently cancelled.

ecnwmadated Insyes

Includes all current and prior period retained profits and losses.

Auditor’s and directers’ remuneration

Fees paid to KPMG 1.LP and its associates for non-audit services to the parent company itsel{ are not disclosed
in the individual accounts of Virgin Media Finance PLC because group financial statements are prepared which
disclose such fees on a consolidated basis.

The directors received no remuneration for qualifying services as directors of this company. All directors’
remuneration is paid and disclosed in the group’s financial statements.

Guarantees

The company, along with fellow group undertakings. is parly to a senior secured credit facility with a syndicate
of banks. As at 31 December 2019, this comprised terrn facilities that amounted to £4.015 million (2018 -
£3.564 million) and an cutstanding balance of £nil (2018 - £ni}) which was borrowed under revolving facilities
of £1,000 million (2018 - £675 million). Borrowings under the facilities are secured against the assets of certain
members of the group including those ot this company.

in addition. a fellow group undertaking has issued senior secured notes which, subject to certain exceptions,
share the same guarantees and security which have been granted in favour of the senior secured credit facility.
The amount outstanding under the senior secured notes at 31 December 2019 amounted to £4.491 millien
(2018 - £1.938 million). Borrowings under the notes are secured against the assets of certain members of the
group inciuding those of this company.

Furthermore, a fellow group undertaking has issued senior notes for which the company, along with certain
fellow group undertakings, has guaranteed the notes on a seniot suberdinated basis. The amount outstanding

under the senior notes as at 31 December 2019 amounted to approximately £1.194 million (2018 - £1.570
million).

The company has joint and several liabilities under a group VAT registration.
Parent undertaking and controlling party
The company's immediate parent undertaking is Virgin Media Communications Limited.

The smallest and largest groups of which the company is a member and in to which the company’s accounts
were consolidated at 3t December 2019 are Virgin Media Finance PLC and Liberty Global ple, respectively.

The company's ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party at 31 December 2019 was Liberty Global ple.

Copies of group accounts referred to above which include the results of the company are available from the
company sccretary, Virgin Media. 300 Brook Drive. Reading, United Kingdom. RG2 6L,

in addition copies of the cansolidated Liberty Global plc accounts are available on Liberty Global®s websile at
www libertyglobal.com or from the company secretary. Liberty Global ple, Griftin House, 161 Hammersmith
Road. London, United Kingdom W6 8BS.
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15 Post Balance Sheet Events

COVID-19

In March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared the recent outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus
(COVID-19) to be a global pandemic. [n response to the COVID-19 pandemic. emergency measures have been
imposed by governments worldwide, including travel restrictions. restrictions on social activity and the
shutdown of non-essential businesses.

These measures have adversely impacted the global economy. disrupted global supply chains and created
significant volatility and disruption of financial markets. While it is not currently possible to estimate the
duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic or the adverse economic impact resulting from the
preventative measures taken to contain or mitigate its outbreak. an extended period of global econemic
disruption could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations in
future periods.

Pending joint venture transaction

On 7 May 2020, Liberty Global entered into a Contribution Agreement with, among others. Teletonica, SA
(Telefonica). Pursuant to this agreement, Liberty Global and Telefonica agreed to form a 50:50 joint venture.
which will combine Virgin Media’s operations in the UK with Telefonica’s mobile business in the UK to create
a nationwide integrated communications provider.

The completion of this transaction is subject to certain conditions. including competition clearance by the
applicable regulatory authorities. [t is anticipated that the transaction will close around the middle of 2021. The
Contribution Agreement also includes customary termination rights. including a right of the parties to terminate
the agreement if the transaction has not closed within twenty-four months following the date of the agreement.
which may be extended by six months under centain circumstances.

Financing transactions

tn June 2020, Virgin Media completed various financing transactions. as further described below.

Senior notes transactions

The company issued 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of 3675 million. The net proceeds. together with
the May 2020 proceeds were used to redeem in full €460 million and $388.7 million outstanding principal
amount of 2025 senior notes.

The company issued an additional 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $250 million €500 million. The
net proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used (1) to redeem in full $497 million outstanding principal
amounts of existing 2024 senior notes and $123.1 million and £44.1 million outstanding principal amounts of
existing 2022 senior notes and ( 2) for general corporate purposes.

The new secured notes rank pari-passu with the group's existing secured notes and subject to certain exceptions,
share in the same guarantees and security granted in favour of its existing secured notes.
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